HF GROUP PLC
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024






HF Group Plc
Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Table of contents
Group and company information
Report of the directors
Directors’ remuneration report
Statement of directors’ responsibilities
Independent auditor’s report
Financial statements:
Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Company statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Consolidated statement of financial position
Company statement of financial position
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Company statement of changes in equity
Consolidated statement of cash flows
Company statement of cash flows

Notes

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22



HF Group Plc
Group and Company information
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Board of directors

The directors who served during the year and to the date of this report were:

Prof. Olive Mwihaki Mugenda PhD
Dr. Benson Irungu Wairegi

Robert Ngugi Kibaara

Dr. Peter Kahara Munga

Dr. Anne W. Kimari

Dr. Antony Opare Omerikwa
Felister Wangari Kembi

Tom Mbuthia Gitogo

Company secretary

Regina Anyika (CPS 880)

Rehani House

Kenyatta Avenue/Koinange Street
P.O. Box 30088 - 00100

Nairobi, Kenya

Registered office

Plot No. LR 209/905

Rehani House

Kenyatta Avenue/Koinange Street
P.O. Box 30088 - 00100

Nairobi, Kenya

Legal adviser

Walker Kontos Advocates
Hakika House

Bishops Road

PO Box 60680—-00200
Nairobi

Principal bankers

Central Bank of Kenya
Haile Selassie Avenue
PO Box 60000-00200
Nairobi, Kenya

Independent auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

PwC Tower

Waiyaki Way/Chiromo Road, Westlands
P.O. Box 43963—-00100

Nairobi, Kenya

Chairperson

HFC Limited

Rehani House, Kenyatta Avenue
PO Box 30088-00100,

Nairobi, Kenya



HF Group Plc
Report of directors
For the year ended 31 December 2024

The directors submit their report together with the audited financial statements of HF Group Plc
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Incorporation

The Group is domiciled in Kenya where it is incorporated as a private group limited by shares under
the Companies Act, 2015. The address of the registered office is set out on page 1.

Directorate
The directors who held office during the year and to date of this report are set out on page 1.

Board meetings attendance for the year ended 31 December 2024

Date 8.03.24 | 3.04.24 | 27.05.24 | 13.09.24 | 14.10.24 | 11.11.24 | 14.11.24 | 18.12.24 | Total
Prof. Olive v v v 7 y v v X 7
Mugenda

Dr. Benson 7 v 7 v 7 v v v 8
Wairegi

Ms. Felister Kembi v v v v v v v v 8
Mr. Tom Gitogo™* v X v v v v v v 7
Dr. Anthony 7 v N v X v v v 6
Omerikwa

Dr. Anne Kimari o X v v v v v v 7
Dr. Peter Munga X X v v v v v v 6
Mr. Robert Kibaara v v o v v v v v 8

Principal activities

HF Group Plc was registered as a non-operating holding company (under the Banking Act
Cap.488), regulated by the Central Bank of Kenya (CBK) in August 2015. The holding company
oversees the operations of the Group subsidiaries, which include HFC Limited, HF Bancassurance
Intermediary Agency, HF Development and Investment Limited (HFDI), First Permanent East
Africa Limited (FPEAL) and the HF Foundation. The Group structure was set up to enhance
corporate governance, provide oversight in management of the subsidiaries and ensure optimal
growth at both Group and subsidiary levels.

The Group is listed on the Nairobi Securities Exchange (NSE), and has four operational
subsidiaries;

e HFC Limited — licensed to carry out the business of mortgage finance as well as banking
services under the Banking Act.

e HF Development and Investment Limited — (formerly known as Kenya Building Society
Limited) undertakes real estate development.

e HF Bancassurance Intermediary (formerly HF Insurance Agency Limited) — Bancassurance
solutions.

e HF Foundation Limited - The Group’s social investment arm.

The subsidiaries’ principal activities are to encourage and promote the flow of both private and
public savings into financing home ownership, corporate and retail banking solutions, development
and selling of residential houses, insurance agency business, and social investment.




HF Group Plc
Report of directors
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Business review

In 2024, the Group demonstrated strong financial and operational resilience despite economic
headwinds. Profit before tax grew by 37.4% year-on-year to Shs 459.7 million, while total assets
increased to Shs 70.1 billion. Customer deposits increased by 9%, reflecting growing customer
confidence and the continued adoption of digital banking solutions.

The bank generated Shs 3.6 billion in total revenue, with net interest income reaching Shs 2.7
billion, supported by a 3% year-on-year growth in the loan portfolio, which now stands at Shs 43.8
billion. Additionally, the group increased its investments in government securities to Shs 16.97
billion, accounting for 75% growth year and year, in line with its strategy to balance risk and
optimize returns. Operational efficiency improved, with the cost-to-income ratio declining to 89%,
driven by disciplined expense management and higher non-interest income.

The group mobilized capital through a rights issue which achieved an over subscription, with a
total subscription performance rate of 138.32%. HF Group's stock demonstrated strong
performance in the equity market, closing the year at its highest level for the year with a year to
date gain exceeding 31%. The surge was largely fueled by positive investor sentiment following
the successful and oversubscribed rights issue, which increased liquidity and demand for the
stock. The rally also reflected broader market optimism and improved confidence in the company’s
strategic direction.

This significant capital raise is a cornerstone of HF Group’s five-year strategy, aimed at evolving
into a full-service banking institution and a fully diversified financial entity. This capital will enable
the group expand its product offering, strengthen its technology platforms and position itself for
future growth. HF Group Plc is on its third straight year of profitability.

Banking subsidiary

Kenya's banking sector demonstrated resilience. Sector liquidity remained strong at 56% as of
November 2024, ensuring stability despite rising interest rates. Private sector credit contracted by
1.1% year-on-year over the same period, reflecting cautious lending. However, sector-wide
profitability improved, with profit before tax rising by 15% year-on-year as of November 2024.
Notably, HFC outperformed the market, recording an impressive 32% year-on-year growth in profit
before tax for the period ending December 2024. This highlights the institution’s strong financial
trajectory and growing market confidence in its renewed strategic direction.

The bank has firmly established its profitability, marking three consecutive years of sustained
growth. This consistent upward trajectory is a testament to the effectiveness of the strategies
implemented during its transition phase. The key strategies that have driven this success include;

e Launching new business segments including SME Banking, Financial Institutions,
Custody Business, Institutional Banking and Treasury as a business (they are now all
profitable) to supplement its earlier single segment (Personal Banking)

e Recalibrating its assets-liabilities mix and structure to optimize the net interest margin and
reduce structural liquidity fragilities.

e Separating the “Good Bank” and the “Bad Bank” (Special Assets), assigning the 2 banks
different management teams with different skill sets. This has allowed HFC to continue
with the NPL resolution efforts while at the same time developing a new loan portfolio
much healthier than the Kenyan banking sector loan portfolio. This Good Bank portfolio
closed FY 2024 contributing slightly more than 75% of the total HFC loans and with an
impressive NPL ratio of 8.14% against the prevailing Kenyan banking sector NPL ratio of
16.5% in November 2024.

e Revenue diversification: The new business segments have helped the bank to reduce its
over reliance on interest income by creating new streams on non-funded income.
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Report of directors
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Business review (continued)
Property subsidiary

The group's property subsidiary has undergone significant changes in its business structure. The
subsidiary has changed its traditional core business mandate of property development and is now
focusing on landowner solutions and other property management consultancy.

Over the last two years, this has proven to be profitable, sustainable, and less capital intensive.
The subsidiary posted an enviable profit before tax growth rate of 52%.

Bancassurance subsidiary

The subsidiary has throughout the years been profitable and posted year on year profit before tax
growth of 15%. The gross written premiums grew by 6% to Shs 672 million.

Results and recommended dividend
The group profit for the year of Shs 524,685,000 (2023 Shs 388,156,000) has been deducted from

accumulated losses. No interim dividend was paid during the year (2023 Nil). The directors do not
recommend payment of a final dividend (2023: Nil).

Principal risks and uncertainties

The group principal risk and uncertainties together with process that are in place to monitor and
mitigate those risks where applicable can be found under Note 4 to the financial statements.

Environmental, social and employee matters

Our environmental and social risk policy guides our commitments to environmental protection
across all group subsidiaries. The Group views environmental sustainability from two perspectives:

1.We conduct business in a manner that protects our employees, the communities where we
operate and the environment; and

2.We offer products and services that deliver efficiency contributing to an overall reduction in the
usage of natural resources.

The environmental and social risk policy has been incorporated into our lending process and is
aligned with recognised international performance standards. Our loan applications therefore
include, among other issues, an environmental assessment and are in compliance with regulatory
requirements.

Statement as to disclosure to the group’s auditor
With respect to each director at the time this report was approved:

a) there is, so far as the director is aware, no relevant audit information of which the Group's
auditor is unaware; and

b) the director has taken all the steps that the director ought to have taken as a director so as to
be aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group's auditor is aware
of that information.



HF Group Plc
Report of directors
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Terms of appointment of the auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP continue in office in accordance with the Company's Articles of
Association and Section 721 of the Companies Act, 2015.

The directors monitor the effectiveness, objectivity, and independence of the auditor. The directors
also approve the annual audit engagement contract which sets out the terms of the auditor's
appointment and the related fees.

Events after the reporting year

There have been no events after the reporting date that require adjustment or disclosure to these
financial statements.

By order of the Board

Regina Anyika
Company secretary

March 2025



HF Group Plc
Directors’ remuneration report
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Information subject to audit

The directors’ remuneration report has been prepared in compliance with the Group’s
remuneration policy, Capital Markets Authority Code of Corporate Governance Guidelines on
Directors’ remuneration and the Companies Act, 2015. The remuneration is reviewed regularly to
ensure that it is within the existing market rates. This is done to ensure that individual directors are
effective and continue to pursue the business strategy. Performance of each director is evaluated
annually and communicated appropriately. All directors are expected to observe attendance of the
board meetings and make valuable contributions depending on each member’s area of speciality.
The remuneration is disclosed through the periodic publications made by the Group.

There has been no change to the rate of remuneration for the non-executive directors during the
year.

Directors’ remuneration paid during the year was as per the table below.

Non- executive directors

Year ended 31 December 2024 Year ended 31 December 2023

Sing o4l Fees | SNG4
allowance allowance

Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000 Shs'000

Fees

Prof. Olive Mugenda 4,875 - 4,875 4,875 - 4,875
Dr. Benson Wairegi, EBS 488 2,456 2,944 488 2,597 3,085
Dr. Peter K Munga 488 1,052 1,540 488 1,193 1,681
Anthony Opare Omerikwa 488 1,123 1,611 488 1,264 1,752
Charles Kimani Njuguna. * - - - 488 211 699
Dr Anne W. Kimari 488 1,332 1,820 488 983 1,471
Felister Kembi 488 1,404 1,892 488 1,334 1,822
Mr. Tom Gitogo ** 488 1,334 1,822 244 351 595
7,803 8,701 16,504 8,047 7,933 15,980

* Retired on 1%t August 2023

** Appointed 1%t August 2023

Executive director

2024 2023
Robert Kibaara Shs’000 Shs’000
Salary 58,910 58,286
Gratuity 12,115 13,627
71,025 71,913

Total




HF Group Plc
Directors’ remuneration report
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Information not subject to audit

The basic pay and gratuity of the executive director is as per the negotiated employment contract.
Other non-cash benefits include club subscription, security and medical cover. Travel and other
reasonable expenses (including any associated taxes) incurred in the course of performing HF
Group official duties are reimbursed. This is meant to ensure that the package is competitive.

Non-executive Directors’ remuneration policy and framework
Non-executive directors are engaged on the basis of a letter of appointment. It is the policy of the
Board of directors that non-executive directors are paid directors’ fees and sitting allowances but

are not eligible to participate in any of the Group’s bonus, share option or pension schemes.

Details of the policy on fees paid to our non-executive directors are set out in the table below:

Directors fees and sitting allowances | Policy framework

To attract and retain non-executive | The director’s fees and sitting allowances paid
directors of the highest calibre and having | to non-executive directors are determined by
the necessary skills and expertise to | the Board of Directors, with recommendations
exercise independent judgement on | from the Group Nomination and Governance
issues that promote the Group’s | Committee.

objectives.

Members of the various committees are also
eligible to receive an additional sitting
allowance.

The fees payable are reviewed periodically by
the Group Nomination and Governance
Committee tQ. ensure that the fees remain
competitive and in line with remuneration of
other non-executive directors in the industry.
Time commitment and responsibility are also
taken into account when reviewing fees.

Travel and expenses for non-executive
Directors for Group related assignments are all
met by the Group.

Approval of the directors’ remuneration report

The directors confirm that this report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act,
2015, Capital Markets Authority (CMA) Code and listing rules and reflects the disclosure
requirements under IFRS.

By order of the Board

@;@L\, o O

Regina Anyika
Company secretary

March 2025



HF Group Plc
Statement of directors’ responsibilities
For the year ended 31 December 2024

The Companies Act, 2015 requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial
year that give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at
the end of the financial year and of its profit or loss for that year. The directors are responsible for
ensuring that the Group and Company keep proper accounting records that are sufficient to show
and explain the transactions of the Group and the Company; disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Group and the Company; and that enables them to prepare
financial statements of the Group and Company that comply with prescribed financial reporting
standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2015. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company, and for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors accept responsibility for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and in the manner required by the Kenyan
Companies Act, 2015. They also accept responsibility for:

(i) designing, implementing and maintaining internal control as they determine necessary to enable
the presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due

to fraud or error;
(i) selecting suitable accounting policies and applying them consistently; and
(i) making accounting estimates and judgements that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Having made an assessment of the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
the directors are not aware of any material uncertainties related to any events or conditions that may
cast doubt upon the Group's and Company's ability to continue as going concern.

The directors acknowledge that the independent audit of the financial statements does not relieve
them of their responsibilities.

Approved by the Board of directors on Ql March 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

" ")V’ﬁN\

Prof. Olive Mugenda Robert Kibaara
Chairperson Director
S (e
QAEQ ) (‘g\@;\(g. L Cy
Benson Wairegi~— Regina Anyika
Director Company secretary
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of HF Group Plc
Report on the financial statements
Our opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of HF Group Plc (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 14 to 126, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position at 31 December 2024 and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, together with the company statement of financial position at 31 December
2024, and the company statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity,
and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, comprising material
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and
the Company as at 31 December 2024 and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act,
2015.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report.

We are independent of the company in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in Kenya. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

7 e Rl LI i
~ How our audit addressed the key audi ,@r‘
We evaluated the appropriateness of th
methodology applied by management in the
estimation of expected credit losses for
Loans and advances to customers comprise a | consistency with IFRS 9.
significant portion of the Group’s total assets.
The estimation of expected credit losses (ECL) | We  evaluated the appropriateness  of
on loans and advances to customers requires | segmentation of the loan portfolio.
management’s judgment in the assumptions that
are applied in the models used to calculate ECL. | We validated management’s basis for staging of
loans and advances.

i 7
Key audi

Expected credit losses on loans and
advances to customers

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. PwC Tower, Waiyaki Way,/Chiromo Road, Westlands
P O Box 43963 — 00100 Nairobi, Kenya
T: +254 (20)285 5000 F: +254 (20)285 5001 www.pwc.com/ke

Partners: E Kerich B Kimacia M Mugasa A Murage F Muriu P Ngahu R Njoroge S O Norbert's B Okundi K Saiti



Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of HF Group Plc (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

W, L .
L cl

“How our audit addressed the key audit matter

The policies for”esriimating ECL are e)(pléinéd in
notes 2 (j) and 4 (a) of the financial statements.
The economic impact of increased interest rates

has resulted in heightened risk of credit default
and potential for significant increases in credit

risk, increasing the uncertainty around the
management judgements and estimation
process.

The key areas where significant judgement has
been exercised and therefore, an increased level
of audit focus applied, include:

e the assumptions applied in deriving the
probabilities of default (PDs), loss given
default (LGD) and exposures at default
(EAD) for the various segments;

e thejudgments made to determine the staging
of facilities in line with IFRS 9. In particular,
the identification of Significant Increase in
Credit Risk (“SICR”) and Default requires
consideration of quantitative and qualitative
criteria. This determines whether a 12-month
or lifetime PD is used,;

e the relevance of the forward-looking
information assumptions used in the models;
and

e thereasonableness of the timing and amount
of the present value of expected future cash
flows on loans and advances to customers,
which is the key driver for LGD for stage 3
loans.

Due to the significant impact of management
udgments applied in calculating the ECL, we
designated this as a key audit matter in our audit.

We tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of
the computation of PDs, and the completeness
and accuracy of the underlying historical data
applied in the computation.

We reviewed the suitability of forward-looking
data used in estimating PDs together with the
accuracy of its application in the PD computation
process.

For forward-looking information, we assessed
the appropriateness of the model, including
assumptions applied; we corroborated the data
using publicly available information; and
assessed the reasonableness of the weightings
applied to different scenarios.

We tested, on a sample basis the computation of
EAD for both on and off-balance sheet items.

We tested, on a sample basis, the
reasonableness of the present values of
expected future cashflows of loans and advances
used in the estimation of LGD.

We recomputed, on a sample basis, expected
credit losses for loans and advances to
customers.

We assessed whether the disclosures in the
financial statements on the key judgements and
assumptions were adequate.

10




Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of HF Group Plc (continued)

Other information

The other information comprises Group and Company information, Report of Directors, Statement of
directors’ responsibilities which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the rest of
the other information in the Annual Report which is expected to be made available to us after that date
but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are
responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, we do not and will not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information we have received prior to the date
of this auditor's report we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the rest of the other information in the Annual report and we conclude that there is a
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with

governance.
Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act, 2015,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

11
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of HF Group Plc (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date-of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the Group’s financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the Group’s financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

12
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of HF Group Plc (continued)
Report on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act, 2015
Report of the directors

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ report on pages 2 to 5 is consistent with the financial
statements.

Directors’ remuneration report

In our opinion the auditable part of the directors’ remuneration report on pages 6 to 7 has been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act, 2015.

(\
e < a,

FCPA Kang’e Saiti, Practicing Certificate Number 1652
gement parther responsible for the audit

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Certified Public Accountants
Nairobi

(027 March 2025
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income

Allowance for expected credit losses

Net interest income after credit impairment losses

Fee and commission income
Fees and commission expense

Net fees and commission income

Trading income
Other income

Net operating income

Employee benefits

Depreciation and amortization

Other operating expenses

Share of profit/(loss) in joint ventures
Investment property fair valuation gain

Profit before income tax

Income tax credit

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income, net of income tax

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Fair value loss on investments in financial instruments
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI)

Deferred income tax

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Revaluation surplus on property and equipment
Deferred income tax

Total comprehensive profit for the year

Basic and diluted earnings per share — Shs
14

Note

6
6

22

~N N

11
12
10
21
29

13

31

26

31
26

14

2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
6,555,348 5,347,608
(3,744,072) (2,654,825)
2,811,276 2,692,783
(364,460) (309,299)
2,446,816 2,383,484
542,323 414,469
(68,776) (73,688)
473,547 340,781
227,197 174,407
568,500 542,677
3,716,060 3,441,349
(1,894,275) (1,625,812)
(238,518) (364,829)
(1,166,517) (1,184,170)
23,243 31,946
20,000 36,000
459,993 334,484
64,692 53,672
524,685 388,156
687,796 (378,578)
(206,339) 113,573
481,457 (265,005)

- 20,000

- (3,000)

» 17,000

1,008,142 140,151
0.90 1.01




HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Company statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Other income

Employee benefits
Depreciation and amortisation
Other operating expenses

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Income tax credit/(expense)

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year

15

Note

9
11
12
10

13

2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
109,961 98,600
(94,436) (73,640)

(242) (273)
(89,076) (20,808)
(73,793) 3,879

18,438 (463)
(55,355) 3,416
(55,355) 3,416




HF Group Plc
Financial statements
At 31 December 2024

Consolidated statement of financial position

2024 2023
Assets Note Shs’000 Shs’000
Cash and balances with banks 16 2,578,697 2,145,150
Placements with other banks 17 1,066,290 607,391
Investment in government securities 18 16,970,061 9,682,141
Loans and advances to customers 22 38,861,015 38,787,793
Other assets 23 2,687,452 2,495,449
Inventories 25 482,338 525,819
Property and equipment 19 872,546 792,635
Right-of-use asset 35 147,929 194,104
Intangible assets 20 316,318 277,897
Investment property 29 1,905,000 1,885,000
Investment in property fund 24 548,771 380,207
Investment in joint ventures 21 1,668,363 1,645,120
Derivative asset 34 15,797 -
Current income tax 13 372,751 367,255
Deferred income tax 26 1,654,454 1,764,469
Total assets 70,147,782 61,550,430
Liabilities
Deposits from the Central Bank 27 - 1,500,000
Deposits from customers 27 47,470,795 43,847,644
Deposits from banks 27 388,106 3,193
Other liabilities 28 3,669,426 3,277,155
Derivative liabilities 37 - 1,570
Dividends payable 15 246 246
Deferred income tax 26 903 487
Borrowings 30 2,690,960 3,740,432
Government of Kenya income notes 32 52,860 52,860
Lease liabilities ‘ 35 192,819 261,513
Total liabilities 54,466,115 52,685,100
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 31 9,427,440 1,923,071
Share premium 31 2,649,338 4,343,512
Regulatory reserve 31 4,808,520 4,854,473
Revaluation reserves 31 1,312,129 1,312,129
Fair value reserves 31 176,079 (305,378)
Accumulated losses (2,691,839) (3,262,477)
Total equity 15,681,667 8,865,330
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 70,147,782 61,550,430

The financial statements on pages 14 to 126 were approved for issue by the Board of directors
Q. ] March 2025 and signed on its behalf by:

Mﬁdﬂ\ e

Prof.Olive Mugenda - Chairperson Robert Kibaara - Director

¢
GANL0N oy Lo O
enson Wairegi\sDi)rector Regina Anyika — Company secretary
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements
At 31 December 2024

Company statement of financial position

2024 2023

Note Shs’000 Shs’000
Assets
Cash and balances with banks 16 250,736 1,107
Other assets 23 552 3,033
Property and equipment 19 685 727
Investment in subsidiaries 21 15,587,594 9,857,594
Current income tax 13 59,657 57,486
Deferred income tax 26 67,815 49,377
Total assets 15,967,039 9,969,324
Liabilities
Other liabilities 28 590,314 347,439
Dividends payable 15 246 246
Total liabilities 590,560 347,685
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital 31 9,427,440 1,923,071
Share premium 31 2,649,338 4,343,512
Retained earnings 3,299,701 3,355,056

15,376,479 9,621,639

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 15,967,039 9,969,324

The financial statements on pages 14 to 126 were approved for issue by the Board of directors

on March 2025 and signed on its behalf by:
S A a A
Prof. Olive Mugenda -Chairperson Robert Kibaara -Director
Baveg GO Lo O
Benson Wairegi--Director Regina Anyika — Company secretary
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Company statement of changes in equity

Year ended 31 December 2023
At start of year
Profit and total comprehensive

income for the year

At end of year

Year ended 31 December 2024
At start of year

Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

Transaction with owners

Additional share capital

Total transaction cost, recorded
directly in equity

At end of year

Share Share Retained
- - : Total

capital premium earnings
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
1,923,071 4,343,512 3,351,640 9,618,223
- - 3,416 3,416
1,923,071 4,343,512 3,355,056 9,621,639
1,923,071 4,343,512 3,355,056 9,621,639
- - (55,355) (55,355)
7,504,369 - - 7,504,369
- (1,694,174) - (1,694,174)
9,427,440 2,649,338 3,299,701 15,376,479
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Net cash flows from operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property and equipment

Investment in property fund

Purchase of intangible assets

Proceeds from disposal of repurchased properties

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment

Net cash flows used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Additional capital (rights issue)

Additional capital (Employee Share Options
Programme shares)

Bonus shares fully paid through share premium

Transactions cost recorded directly in equity

Principle repayments of borrowings

Interest lease payments

Principal lease payments

Net cash flows used in financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

20

Note

33

19
24
20

31
31

31
31
30
35
35

33

2024 2023
Shs'000 Shs'000
(3,256,758) 1,333,292
(166,896) (85,183)
(168,564) -
(115,864) (158,411)
- 35,700
- 3,577
(451,324) (204,317)
7,499,975 -
4,394 -
(1,499,995)
(194,179) ]
(1,049,472) (577,325)
(23,611) (30,422)
(82,934) (92,798)
4,654,178 (700,545)
946,096 428,430
1,277,121 848,691
2,223,217 1,277,121




HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Company statement of cash flows

Net cash flows (used in) / generated from operating
activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property and equipment

Net cash flows (used in) / generated from investing
activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Additional capital (rights issue)

Additional capital (Employee Share Options Programme
shares)

Bonus shares fully paid through share premium

Transactions cost recorded directly in equity
Investments in subsidiaries-HFC

Net cash flows used in financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

21

Note

33

19

31
31

21

16

2024
Shs’ 000

169,634

(200)

2023
Shs’ 000

(14,280)

169,434

(14,280)

7,499,975
4,394

(1,499,995)
(194,179)
(5,730,000)

80,195

249,629

1,107

15,387

250,736

1,107




HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes

1

(a)

General information

HF Group Plc is incorporated as a limited company in Kenya under the Kenyan Companies Act, 2015,
and is domiciled in Kenya. The address of the Company’s registered office is shown on Page 1. The
consolidated financial statements comprise of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”
or “Consolidated” and individually referred to as “Group entities”).

The Group is primarily involved in mortgage lending, provision of banking solutions, property
development, bancassurance services, and social investment.

Material accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented on these
financial statements, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards. The
measurement basis applied is the historical cost basis, except where otherwise stated in the
accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise judgement in the
process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The are no areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial

statements.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(i)New and amended standards adopted by the Group

A few amendments to standards became effective for the first time in the financial year beginning 1

January 2024 and have been adopted by the Group. The amendments have not had an effect on the
Group's financial statements. The amendments are as follows:

Title Effective date Key requirements

Amendments to IAS Annual periods beginning | These amendments clarify how conditions
1, on or after 1 January | with which an entity must comply within
‘Presentation of 2024 twelve months after the reporting period
Financial Statements’ | (Published January 2020 | affect the classification of a liability. The
- and November 2022) amendments also aim to improve information
Non-current liabilities an entity provides related to liabilities subject
with covenants to these conditions.
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)
2 Material accounting policies (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation(continued)

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(i)New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

Title

Effective date

Key requirements

Amendment to IFRS
16, ‘Leases’ - sale
and

leaseback

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January
2024

(Published September
2022)

These amendments include requirements for
sale and leaseback transactions in IFRS 16
to explain how an entity accounts for a sale
and leaseback after the date of the
transaction. Sale and leaseback transactions
where some or all the lease payments are
variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or rate are most likely to be
impacted.

Amendments to
Supplier Finance
Arrangements (IAS 7
‘Statement of Cash
Flows’ and IFRS 7

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January
2024

(Published May 2023)

These amendments require disclosures to
enhance the transparency of supplier finance
arrangements and their effects on a
company’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. The disclosure

‘Financial requirements are the IASB’s response to

Instruments: investors’ concerns that some companies’

Disclosure’) supplier finance arrangements are not
sufficiently visible, hindering investors’
analysis.

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and
do not have a material impact in the current year.

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective

Title

Effective date

Key requirements

Amendments to IAS
21, ‘The Effects of
Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates’ -
Lack of
Exchangeability
(Amendments to IAS
21)

Annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January
2025

(Published August 2023)

An entity is impacted by the amendments
when it has a transaction or an operation in a
foreign currency that is not exchangeable
into another currency at a measurement date
for a specified purpose. A currency is
exchangeable when there is an ability to
obtain the other currency (with a normal
administrative delay), and the transaction
would take place through a market or
exchange  mechanism that creates
enforceable rights and obligations.
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)
2 Material accounting policies (continued)
(a) Basis of preparation(continued)
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

(ii) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued)

Title Effective date Key requirements

Amendment to Annual periods beginning on or These amendments:

IFRS 9'_ after 1 January 2026

“Financial e clarify the requirements for the timing of
:EthrSur;ents and | (published May 2024) recognition and derecognition of some
“Financ,ial ﬁnanmgl assets and |labl|l'[.leS,. W|.th'a new
Instruments: exception for some financial liabilities
Disclosures” - settled through an electronic cash transfer
Classification system;

and clarify and add further guidance for
Measurement of assessing whether a financial asset meets
Financial the solely payments of principal and
Instruments interest (SPPI) criterion;

e add new disclosures for certain
instruments with contractual terms that can
change cash flows (such as some
instruments with features linked to the
achievement of environment, social and
governance (ESG) targets); and

e make updates to the disclosures for equity
instruments designated at Fair Value
through Other Comprehensive Income
(FVOCI).

IFRS 19, Annual periods beginning on or The objective of IFRS 19 is to provide reduced
‘Subsidiaries after 1 January 2027 disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, with a
without Public parent that applies the Accounting Standards in
Accountability’ (Published May 2024) its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 19 is a voluntary Accounting Standard that

eligible subsidiaries can apply when preparing

their own consolidated, separate or individual
financial statements.
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)

2

(a)

(c)

Material accounting policies (continued)

Basis of preparation

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures (continued)

(i) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective (continued)

Title Effective date Key requirements

'FRS18’_ Annual periods beginning on or The objective of IFRS 18 is to set out
‘Presgntatnon after 1 January 2027 requirements for the presentation and
and Disclosure disclosure of information in general purpose
in Financial (Published April 2024) financial statements (financial statements) to
Statements’ help ensure they provide relevant information

that faithfully represents an entity's assets,
liabilities, equity, income and expenses.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1 ‘Presentation of
Financial Statements’ and focuses on updates
to the statement of profit or loss with a focus on
the structure of the statement of profit or loss;
required disclosures in the financial statements
for certain profit or loss performance measures
that are reported outside an entity’s financial
statements (that is, management-defined
performance measures); and enhanced
principles on aggregation and disaggregation
which apply to the primary financial statements
and notes in general.

Many of the other existing principles in IAS 1 are
retained, with limited changes. IFRS 18 will not
impact the recognition or measurement of items
in the financial statements, but it might change
what an entity reports as its ‘operating profit or
loss’.

These standards, amendments or interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the entity
in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Revenue recognition

Net interest income

Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or loss on an accrual basis using the effective interest

method for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except for those classified at fair value through profit

or loss which are included under trading income and:

» purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) for which the original credit adjusted effective interest rate
is applied to the amortised cost of the financial asset; and

« financial assets that are not POCI that have subsequently become impaired for which interest revenue is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e. net of expected credit losses)
in subsequent reporting periods.
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)

2

(c)

(d)

Material accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Net interest income (continued)

Effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial assets or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset or liability.

Direct incremental transaction costs incurred and origination fees received, including loan commitment fees,
as a result of bringing margin-yielding assets or liabilities into the statement of financial position are
capitalised to the carrying number of financial instruments that are not at fair value through profit or loss,
and amortised as interest income or expense over the life of the asset or liability as part of the effective

interest rate.

Non - interest revenue
i. Net fee and commission revenue

Fee and commission revenue, including transaction fees, account servicing fees, custodial fees, sales
commissions and placement fees are recognised as the related services are performed. Loan commitment
fees for loans that are not expected to be drawn down are recognised on a straight-line basis over the
commitment period. Fee and commission expense included in net fee and commission revenue are mainly
transaction and service fees relating to financial instruments, which are expensed as the services are
received. Expenditure is recognised as fee and commission expenses where the expenditure is linked to
the production of fee and commission revenue.

ii. Trading revenue

Trading revenue comprises all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of trading assets and
liabilities, including foreign exchange gains and losses from monetary assets and liabilities.

iii. Other revenue

Other revenue includes rental income, gains and losses from disposal of investment properties and property
and equipment and other revenue realised as commissions.

Property and equipment

(i)Recognition and measurement

Items of property and equipment other than land and buildings are initially recognised at cost. Cost includes
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost includes any other costs
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use and the present value of

the estimated costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located.
After initial recognition, property and equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation.
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)

2

(d)

(e)

Material accounting policies (continued)
Property and equipment (continued)
(i)Recognition and measurement (continued)

Land and Buildings held at fair value are subsequently carried at a revalued amount based on valuations,
Buildings are then carries at revalued amounts less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to other comprehensive income.
Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against the revaluation surplus; all
other decreases are charged to profit or loss.

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the
Bank and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced item is derecognised. The
cost of day-to-day servicing of property and equipment is recognised in profit and loss.

(iij)Depreciation
Freehold land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to allocate the cost or revalued amount to their residual
values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Computers 20%
Motor vehicles 20%
Office equipment, fixtures and fittings 5% - 20%

Buildings on leasehold land are depreciated over the shorter of 50 years and the remaining period of the
lease. Buildings on freehold land are depreciated over fifty years. The assets’ residual values, useful lives
and methods of depreciation are reassessed at each financial year-end and adjusted prospectively, as a
change in an estimate, if appropriate.

(i) Disposal of property and equipment

Gains and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to the carrying amount
and are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Intangible assets

The Group’s intangible assets include the value of computer software. Costs associated with maintaining
software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are directly
attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group
are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

It is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use;

Management intends to complete the software and use or sell it;

There is an ability to use or sell the software;

It can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits;

Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
software are available; and

e The expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)

2

(e)

()

Material accounting policies (continued)
Intangible assets (continued)

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software include employee costs and an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets
and amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses.

The intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the estimated useful life, currently estimated at five
(5) to (8) years, on a straight-line basis from the date the software is available for use. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year-end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of
future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or
method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.

Leases
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone price.
However, for leases of branches and office premises the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-
of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted
for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred
and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove any improvements made to branches or office premises.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement
date to the end of the lease term. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment
losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing
rate as the discount rate.

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by analysing its borrowings from various external
sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased.
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

o fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, the Group has used the CBR rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

e amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

o the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease
payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to
terminate early.
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Financial statements
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Notes (continued)

2

()

(9)

Material accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

(i) Group acting as a lessee

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Group
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is

a revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets separately while lease liabilities are presented in ‘other liabilities’ in
the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value
assets and short-term leases, including leases of IT equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments
associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(ii) Group acting as a lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling

prices.

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether the lease is a finance lease or
an operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case,
then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Group
considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the

asset.

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the
lease. The Group further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating the
gross investment in the lease.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee retirement benefits plan

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme based on a percentage of pensionable earnings whose
funds are held in a separate trustee administered and guaranteed scheme managed by an approved

insurance company. The pension plan is funded by contributions from the employees and the Group. The
Group’s contributions are charged to profit or loss in the year to which they relate.
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Notes (continued)

2

(9)

(h)

Material accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
(i)Employee retirement benefits plan (continued)

The employees and the Group also contribute to the National Social Security Fund. Contributions are
determined by the local statute and the Group’s contributions are charged to profit or loss in the period to
which they relate.

(ij)Accrued leave

Accrual for annual leave is made as employees earn it and reduced when taken.

(iiij) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed, without
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal
retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised if the Group has made an offer
of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can
be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting date, then they are
discounted to their present value.

(iv)Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term
cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Income tax

The income tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

(i)Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date. The directors periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(i) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other
than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or
loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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Income tax (continued)
(i)  Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities
are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank deposits held at call, unrestricted balances held with
the central bank and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three months or less from the
date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value and are used by the
Group in the management of its short-term commitments. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at
amortised cost in the statement of financial position.

Financial instruments
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-
date, the date which the Group and Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group and Company measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value
plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through the profit or loss,
transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset
or financial liability, such fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities
are carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after the initial
recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for the financial assets measured at
amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which results in an accounting loss
being recognised in profit or loss when an asset is newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the
entity recognises the difference as follows:

(a) When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability (i.e.
Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the difference

is recognised as a gain or loss.
(b) In all other cases, the difference is deferred, and the timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss

is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument’s
fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement.

Financial assets
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group and Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
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Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

- Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
- Amortised cost

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer's
perspective, such as loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in
factoring arrangements without recourse. Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depend on:

(i) the Group and Company’s business model for managing the asset; and

(i) the cash flow characteristics of the asset

Based on these factors, the Group and Company classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three
measurement categories:

- Amortised cost: assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI), and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at
amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets are adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance.
Interest income from financial assets is included in “interest and similar income” using the effective interest
rate method.

- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on instrument’s amortised
cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in “Net investment
income” using the effective interest rate method.

- Fair value through the profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt instruments that is subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or
loss and presented within “Net trading income” in the period in which it arises, unless it arises from debt
instruments that were designated at fair value or which are not held for trading, in which case they are
presented separately in “Net investment income”. Interest income from these financial assets is included in
“interest income” using the effective interest rate method

Business model: The business model reflects how the Group and Company manages the assets in order to
generate cash flows. That is, whether the Group and Company’s objective is solely to collect the contractual
cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from sale of
assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial
assets are classified as part of “other” business model and measured at FVPL. Factors considered by the
Group and Company in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on how
cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported by key
management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.
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(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

For example, the liquidity portfolio of assets is held by the Group and Company as part of liquidity management
and is generally classified with the hold to collect and sell business model. Securities held for trading are held
principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or are part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are
managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. These
securities are classified in the “other” business model and measured at FVPL.

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual
cash flows and sell, the Group and Company assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows
represents solely payments of principal and interest (the “SPPI test”). In making this assessment, the Group
and Company considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement
i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk and a profit margin that is
consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or
volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their
cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

The Group and Company reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing
those assets changes. The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the
change. The changes are expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the year.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer's perspective; that is,
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the
issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity instruments include basic ordinary shares.

The Group and Company subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss,
except where the entity’'s management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group and Company’s policy is to
designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other than to generate
investment returns. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses (and reversals of
impairment losses) are not reported separately from other changes in fair values. Dividends, when
representing a return on such investments, continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the Group and Company’s right to receive payment is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included in the “Net trading income” line in the statement
of profit or loss
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(i)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Expected credit losses (ECL) are recognised on debt financial assets classified as at either amortised cost or
fair value through OCI, financial guarantee contracts that are not designated at fair value through profit or loss
as well as loan commitments that are neither measured at fair value through profit or loss nor are used to
provide a loan at a below market interest rate. The measurement basis of the ECL of a financial asset includes
assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) at the reporting date, which
includes forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. The measurement basis of the
ECL is set out below. ECL is measured as the unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined
by evaluating a range of possible outcomes, the time value of money and forward-looking information.

Stages

Stage 1

A 12-month ECL is calculated for financial assets which are neither credit impaired on origination nor for
which there has been a SICR.

Stage 2

A lifetime ECL allowance is calculated for financial assets that are assessed to have displayed an SICR since
origination and are not considered low credit risk.

Stage 3 (Credit impaired assets)

A lifetime ECL is calculated for financial assets that are assessed to be credit impaired. The following criteria
are used in determining whether the financial asset is impaired:

* Default (as defined below)

« Significant financial difficulty of borrower and/or modification

« Probability of bankruptcy or financial reorganisation

» Disappearance of an active market due to financial difficulties

The key components of the impairment methodology are described as follows:

Significant increase in credit risk

At each reporting date, the Group and Company assesses whether the credit risk of its exposures has
increased significantly since initial recognition by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over
the expected life of the financial asset.

Low credit risk

Exposures are generally considered to have a low credit risk where there is a low risk of default, the exposure
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations and adverse changes in economic and
business conditions may not necessarily reduce the exposure’s ability to fulfil its contractual obligations.
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(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Default

The Group and Company’s definition of default has been aligned to its internal credit risk management
definitions and approaches. A financial asset is considered to be in default when there is objective evidence
of impairment. The following criteria are used in determining whether there is objective evidence of impairment
for financial assets or groups of financial assets:

» Significant financial difficulty of borrower and/or modification (i.e. known cash flow difficulties experienced

by the borrower)

* A breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest and/or principal payments

« Disappearance of active market due to financial difficulties

* It becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation

* Where the Group and Company, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
grants the borrower a concession that the Group and Company would not otherwise consider

» Exposures which are overdue for more than 90 days are also considered to be in default

Forward-looking information

Forward-looking information is incorporated into the Group and Company’s impairment methodology
calculations and in the Group and Company’s assessment of SICR. The Group and Company includes all
forward-looking information which is reasonable and available without undue cost or effort. The information

will typically include expected macroeconomic conditions and factors that are expected to impact portfolios or
individual counterparty exposures.

Write-off

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Financial assets which
are written off may still be subject to enforcement activities.

ECLs are recognised within the statement of financial position as follows:

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (including loan commitments)

Recognised as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the asset (group of assets). Where the
impairment allowance exceeds the gross carrying amount of the asset (group of assets), the excess is
recognised as a provision within other liabilities.

Off-balance sheet exposures (excluding loan commitments)

Recognised as a provision within other liabilities.

Financial assets measured at fair value through OCI

Recognised in the fair value reserve within equity. The carrying amount of the financial asset is recognised in
the statement of financial position at fair value.
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(i) Modification of loans

The Group and Company sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans
to customers. When this happens, the Group and Company assesses whether the new terms are substantially
different to the original terms. The Group and Company does this by considering, among others, the following
factors:

e Ifthe borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows
to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.
Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity based return that
substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.

Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.

Significant change is interest rate

Change in the currency of the loan

Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancement that significantly affect the credit risk

associated with the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Group and Company derecognises the original financial asset and
recognises a “new” asset at fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of
renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation
purposes, including for determining whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.

However, the Group and Company also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is deemed to
be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the
debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also
recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition,
and the Group and Company recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the
financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective interest rate of credit-adjusted

effective interest rate for POCI financial assets.
(iv) Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows
from the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Group and Company
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Group and Company neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Group and Company has not retained

control.

The Group and Company enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows
from assets but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers
substantially all of the risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as “pass through” transfers

that result in derecognition if the Bank:

(i) Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets
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Financial assets

(iv) Derecognition other than on a modification (continued)

(ii) Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and
(iif) Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from assets without material delays

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group and Company under standard repurchase agreements
and securities lending and borrowings transactions are not derecognised because the Group and Company
retains substantially all the risks and rewards on the basis of predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria
for derecognition are therefore not met. This also applies to certain securitisation transactions in which the
Group and Company retains a subordinated residual interest.

Financial liabilities
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current period and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, except for:

e Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss such as derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading
(e.g., short positions in the trading booking) and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial
recognition. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
presented partially in other comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair values of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability) and partially profit or loss (the remaining
amount of change in the fair value of the liability);

e Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition,
whereby a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent
periods, the Group and Company recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; and

¢ Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

(il) Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Group and Company and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially
different terms, as well as substantial modification of the terms of the existing financial liabilities, are accounted
for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The
terms are substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms,
including any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at
least 10% different from the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in,
changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and change in
covenants are also taken into consideration. If the exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on
the extinguishment. If the exchange of modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or
fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the
modified liability.
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Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position,
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the Group and Company (issuer) to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are initially recognised at fair value, which is generally equal to the premium
received, and then amortised over the life of the financial guarantee. Financial guarantee contracts (that are
not designated at fair value through profit

or loss) are subsequently measured at the higher of the:

 ECL calculated for the financial guarantee; or

 unamortised premium.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Non-financial assets are tested annually for impairment and additionally whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. Fair value less costs ascertaining the current market value of an asset and
deducting any costs related to the realisation of the asset. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows from continuing use (CGUs).
Impairment test can also be performed on a single asset when the fair value less costs of development or
the value in use can be determined reliably. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared.

Deposits from customers

Deposits from customers are recognised and accounted for on receipt basis as liabilities. Interest expense
for interest earning deposits is accrued on the deposits on a daily basis.
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Material accounting policies (continued)
Comparatives

Except otherwise required, all amounts are reported or disclosed with comparative information. Where
necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current
year.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises expenditure incurred in
the normal course of business, including direct material costs, labour and direct overheads wherever
appropriate on a weighted average basis, incurred in acquiring inventories or to bring them to the existing
location and condition. Net realisable value is the price at which the inventories can be realised in the
normal course of business after allowing for the costs of the realisation and, where appropriate, the cost of
conversion from its existing state to a realisable condition. Allowance is made for obsolete, slow moving
and defective inventories.

Contingent liabilities

Significant litigations and claims against the Group and Company, letters of credit, acceptances, guarantees
and performance bonds are accounted for and disclosed as contingent liabilities. Estimates of the outcome
and the financial effect of contingent liabilities is made by management based on the information available
up to the date the financial statements are approved for issue by the directors. Any expected loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Fiduciary activities

The Group and Company commonly engages in trust or other fiduciary activities that result in the holding
or placing of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, post-employment benefit plans and other institutions.
These assets and the income arising directly thereon are excluded from these annual financial statements
as they are not assets of the Group and Company. However, fee income earned and fee expenses
incurred by the Group and Company relating to the Group and Company s responsibilities from fiduciary
activities are recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative financial assets and liabilities

The Group and Company enters into derivatives (currency forwards and swaps) for trading purposes. At
their inception, derivatives often involve only a mutual exchange of promises with little or no transfer of
consideration. The Group and Company may take positions with the expectation of profiting from favourable
movement in prices, rates or indices. The Group and Company’s exposure under derivative contracts is
closely monitored as part of the overall management of its market risk. Derivatives are recorded at fair value
and carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in net trading income.

The Group and Company uses the following derivative instruments:

Currency forwards

Forward contracts are contractual agreements to buy or sell a specified financial instrument at a specific
price and date in the future. Forwards are customised contracts transacted in the over—the—counter market.

The Group and Company has credit exposure to the counterparties of forward contracts. Forward contracts
are settled gross and result in market risk exposure.
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Earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated based on the profit or loss attributable to shareholders divided by the weighted
number of ordinary shares. Diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic earnings per share. Diluted
earnings per share are computed using the weighted average number of equity shares and dilutive potential
ordinary shares outstanding during the period. During the year, there were no outstanding shares with dilutive

potential.

Investment property

Investment property comprises land, buildings and equipment (such as lifts and air-conditioning) that is
considered an integral part of the building. Investment properties are held to earn rental income and for capital

appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost and subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognised in profit or loss. The gain or loss on disposal of investment property is recognised in profit or loss.
The fair value of investment property is determined by external, independent property valuers, having
appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of the
property being valued.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
expenditure will flow to the Company. Ongoing repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.

Gains and losses on disposal of investment properties are determined by reference to the carrying amount
and are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group and Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

The increase in provision due to passage of time is recognised as an expense.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the probability that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Although the likelihood of outflow for any one
item may be small, it may well be probable that some outflow of resources will be needed to settle the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group and Company has approved
a detailed formal plan, and the restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future
operating costs or losses are not provided for. A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the
expected benefits to be derived by the Group and Company from a contract are lower than the unavoidable
cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The provision is measured at the present value of the lower
of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before
a provision is established, the Group and Company recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated
with that contract.
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Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities (continued)

Contingent assets are not recognised in the annual financial statements but are disclosed when, as a result
of past events, it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group and Company, but this will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events which are not

wholly within the Group and Company’s control.

Contingent liabilities include certain guarantees, other than financial guarantees, and letters of credit.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the annual financial statements but are disclosed in the notes
to the annual financial statements unless they are remote

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is
measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred including acquisition cost, measured at
acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition related
costs are expensed as incurred and included in operating expenses. When the Group acquires a
business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions

as at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred
and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess
of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all
of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the
amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair
value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in

profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.
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(w) Consolidation

i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying amount of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.
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Material accounting policies (continued)

(w) Consolidation (continued)

i) Subsidiaries (continued)

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s
identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying amount of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-
controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform to the Group’s accounting policies.

(i) Changes in ownership interests

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions —that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference between
fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of
the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
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Material accounting policies (continued)

(w) Consolidation (continued)

(iii) Disposal of subsidiaries

(x)

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value
at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Operating segments

Operating segments are components that engage in business activities that may earn revenues or incur
expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed and for which discrete financial information is
available.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the operating segments has been identified as the Strategy
and Investment Committee that makes strategic decisions.

All transactions between business segments are conducted on an arm'’s length basis, with intra-segment
revenue and costs being eliminated in head office. Income and expenses directly associated with each
segment are included in determining business segment performance.

Operating segments defined at HF Group Plc are organised in four main reporting segments. The
segmentation is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure.

The following summary describes the operations of each of the Group’s reportable segment;

¢ Retail banking: This segment is mainly responsible for sourcing residential mortgages for
individual owner occupiers, micro loans, personal loans and it forms the major proportion of
the Group’s loan book. The segment is also responsible for the sourcing of deposits from retail
customers which are then used to finance the Group’s loan products.

e Corporate banking: This segment is responsible for sourcing for deposits from corporate
organizations. It is also in charge of projects, providing lending to property developers for
construction. This includes construction of residential houses for sale, construction of office
blocks, schools, hospitals and other related infrastructure.

e Property Development: This function is undertaken by one of the Group’s subsidiaries, HF

Development and Investment Limited and its core business is the development of housing
projects and the sale of houses thereof.
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(v)

Material accounting policies (continued)
Operating segments (continued)

e Bancassurance: The bancassurance function is based at the HF Insurance Agency Limited
and the business is procuring insurance business and earning commissions thereof.

Segment profit is used to measure performance as management believes that such information is the
most relevant in evaluating the results of each.

Joint arrangements

Under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint
operations or joint ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of
each investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint arrangement.

Joint operations

The Group recognises its direct right to the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint
operations and its share of any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
The Group does not have joint operations arrangements.

Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, after initially being recognised
at cost in the statement of financial position. The Group’s joint venture arrangements have been

disclosed under Note 20.
Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will
seldom equal the actual results. The directors also need to exercise judgment in applying the Group and
Company’s accounting policies.

All estimates and assumptions required in conformity with IFRS are best estimates undertaken in
accordance with the applicable standard. Estimates and judgements are evaluated on a continuous basis
and are based on experience and other factors, including expectations with regard to future events.

This note provides an overview of the areas that involve a higher degree of judgment or complexity, and
major sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment
within the next financial year. Detailed information about each of these estimates and judgements is
included in the related notes together with information about the basis of calculation for each affected line
item in the financial statements.

(a) Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance
The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost

and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future
economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting

losses).
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

Use of estimates and judgements (continued)

The estimation of potential credit losses is inherently uncertain and depends upon many factors, including
general economic conditions, changes in individual customers’ circumstances, structural changes within
industries that alter competitive positions and other external factors such as legal and regulatory

requirements.

Impairment is measured for all accounts that are identified as non-performing. All relevant considerations
that have a bearing on the expected future cash flows are considered which include but not limited to future
business prospects for the customer, realizable value of securities, the Group and Company’s position
relative to other claimants and the existence of any court injunctions placed by the borrower. Subjective
judgments are made in this process of cash flow determination both in value and timing and may vary from
one person to another and team to team. Judgments may also change with time as new information

becomes available.

The Group and Company reviews its loans and advances at each reporting date to assess whether an
allowance for impairment should be recognized in profit or loss. In particular, judgment by the directors is
required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when determining the level of
allowance required. Such estimates are based on the assumptions about a number of factors and actual
results may differ, resulting in future changes in the allowance.

Judgements
The following represent critical judgements adopted

« Ascertaining what constitutes significant increase in credit risk
 Criteria used in determination of which exposures should be individually assessed;

» Definition of default and/or credit impaired;

Estimates
The following approach was adopted to determine estimates

» Selecting and calibrating the PD, LGD and EAD models which support the calculations, including
making reasonable and supportable judgements about how models react to current and future
economic conditions

» Selecting model inputs including determining whether sufficient and appropriately weighted
economic forecasts are incorporated to calculate unbiased expected losses

» Determining balances to write off

The Group and Company has revised it's estimated expected credit losses, in response to uncertainties,
elevated credit risks and weakening global market conditions due to the pandemic. The financial impact
of the downturn in the economy on the Group and Company’s financial instruments was reassessed with
changes made to the Probability of Default (PD) rates and Loss Given Default (LGD). Where applicable,
the probability weightings assigned to possible loss scenarios were also revised. In determining what
was considered to be appropriate levels for these critical inputs. Some judgement was also applied,
based on credit experience with the Group and Company’s borrowing clients. Under Note 4 we have set
out assumptions used in determining ECL and provides an indication of the sensitivity of the different
weightings and changes to PD being applied in different scenarios.
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The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

e credit risk
e liquidity risk
e market risk
e capital management

The directors have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and
the Group's activities.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the current or prospective risk to earnings and capital arising from an obligor’s failure to
meet the terms of any contract with the Group or if an obligor otherwise fails to perform as agreed.

The Group’s policy is to pursue timely realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner.

The Group holds collateral against loans and advances to customers in the form of mortgage interests
over property. Estimates of fair value are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of
borrowing, and generally, are not updated except when a loan is individually assessed as impaired.
Collateral is not held over placements with banks and investment in government securities as these
are considered to be low credit risk.

Management of credit risk

The Board of directors has delegated responsibility for the management of credit risk to the Group’s
management through the Group Chief Executive Officer. Management has delegated this
responsibility to head office and branch credit committees. The Group’s credit committee, reporting to
the Group Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for oversight of the credit risk, including:

e Formulating credit policies in consultation with business units, covering collateral requirements,
credit assessment, risk grading and reporting, documentary and legal procedures, and
compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements.

e Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities.
Authorisation limits are allocated to head office and branch credit committees.

e Reviewing and assessing credit risk. The Group Credit Committee assesses all credit exposures
in excess of designated limits, prior to facilities being committed to customers by the branch
concerned. Renewals and reviews of facilities are subject to the same review process.

e Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties and industries for loans and advances.

e Reviewing compliance with agreed exposure limits, including those for selected industries and
product types. Regular reports are provided to the Group’s Credit department on the credit quality
of different portfolios and appropriate corrective action is taken.

Regular audits of branches and Group’s credit processes are undertaken by internal audit.
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(a) Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position
at 31 December is their carrying amount as illustrated in the table below:

2024 2023
Note Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Credit exposures
On - balance sheet items
Balances and deposits due from financial institutions* 16 2,966,629 2,385,053
Investment securities 18 16,970,061 9,682,141
Loans and advances to customers 22 38,861,015 38,787,793
Other assets** 23 1,430,790 1,297,735
60,228,495 52,152,722
Off-balance sheet items
Guarantees 607,593 2,428,566
Letters of credit, acceptances and other credits 174,150 80,452
781,743 2,509,018
61,010,238 54,661,740

*Balances and deposits due from financial institutions excludes cash at hand as disclosed under Note
16 as this does not pose a credit risk.

The credit risk on balances and deposits due from financial institutions and investment securities is
limited as the counterparties are all recognised financial institutions with high credit rating.

**Other assets are made up of settlement and clearing accounts, refundable deposits and other
receivable balances. Prepayments and foreclosed assets have been excluded from other assets
balances as they do not bear any credit risk. The balances are settled no more than 12 months after the
reporting date. All the balances are non-interest bearing and impairment of Shs 26,957,000 (2023: Shs
61,834,000) has been recognised against them at 31 December 2024.

None of the other assets and balances due from related parties are past due or impaired. Management

has established a related entity risk management framework including mandatory credit checks with
counter parties.
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(b) Credit risk (continued)
Management of credit risk (continued)

Exposure to credit risk (loans and advances)

2024
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
Amortised cost Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Individually and collectively
impaired
Grade 3: Substandard - - 1,571,423 1,571,423
Grade 4: Doubtful - - 9,976,276 9,976,276
Grade 5: Loss - - 416,776 416,776
Gross amount - - 11,964,475 11,964,475
Provision for impairment losses - - (3,695,809) (3,695,809)
Carrying amount - - 8,268,666 8,268,666
Grade 1: Normal 27,612,434 - - 27,612,434
Grade 2: Watch - 3,270,559 - 3,270,559
Gross amount 27,612,434 3,270,559 - 30,882,993
Provision for impairment losses (136,208) (154,436) - (290,644)
Carrying amount 27,476,226 3,116,123 - 30,592,349
Total carrying amount 27,476,226 3,116,123 8,268,666 38,861,015
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(a) Credit risk (continued)

Management of credit risk (continued)

Exposure to credit risk (loans and advances)

Amortized cost

Individually and collectively

impaired

Grade 3: Substandard
Grade 4: Doubtful
Grade 5: Loss

Gross amount

Provision for impairment losses

Carrying amount

Grade 1: Normal
Grade 2: Watch

Gross amount

Provision for impairment losses

Carrying amount

Total carrying amount

Doubtful account includes loans and advances whose days past due is over 180 days. Loss account represents

2023
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12-month Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
ECL

Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000

R = 497,956 497,956

- - 10,321,758 10,321,758

- - 10,819,714 10,819,714

- - (3,383,399) (3,383,399)

- - 7,436,315 7,436,315
27,817,660 - - 27,817,660
- 3,790,128 - 3,790,128
27,817,660 3,790,128 - 31,607,788
(124,595) (131,715) - (256,310)
27,693,065 3,658,413 - 31,351,478
27,693,065 3,658,413 7,436,315 38,787,793

those accounts which are considered uncollectible by the Bank.
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(a) Credit risk (continued)
Management of credit risk (continued)

Grade 1 and grade 2 represent loans and advances that are not impaired. Grade 3, grade 4 and grade
5 refer to loans and advances that have been impaired in line with the Group’s credit policy and internal
model. These represent the loans and advances that the Group cannot collect according to contractual
terms of the loan agreements.

Impaired loans
Impaired loans are loans which the Group determines that it is probable that it will be unable to collect

all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreements.

Past due but not impaired loans

These are loans where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but the Bank believes
that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the stage of collection of amounts owed to the Bank.

Allowances for impairment
The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors as follows:

e  Transfers between Stage 1 and Stage 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing

e  significant increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit impaired in the period, and
the consequent “step up” or “step down” between 12-month and lifetime ECL;

e  Additional allowance for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as
releases for financial instruments de-recognised in the period;

° Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising
from regular refreshing of inputs to models;

o Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions;

e  Discount unwind within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present value
basis; and

o Financial assets derecognised during the period and write-offs of allowances related to assets that
were written off during the period.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a loan balance when the credit department determines that the loans are
uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of
significant changes in the borrower’s financial position such that the borrower can no longer pay the
obligation or that proceeds from collateral have failed to cover the entire facility outstanding. For smaller
balance standardised loans, write-off decisions are generally based on a product specific past due
default history.
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(a) Credit risk (continued)
Management of credit risk (continued)
Collateral on loans and advances

The Group routinely obtains collateral and security to mitigate credit risk. The Group ensures that any
collateral held is sufficiently liquid, legally effective, enforceable and regularly reassessed. Before
attaching value to collateral, the business holding approved collateral must ensure that they are
legally perfected devoid of any encumbrances. Security structures and legal covenants are subject
to regular review, to ensure that they remain fit for purpose and remain consistent with accepted local
market practice. The principal collateral types held by the Group for loans and advances are
Mortgages over residential properties and commercial properties.

The Group has a panel of valuers who undertake valuation of property and other assets to be used
as collateral. The valuers in the panel are qualified professional valuers with adequate experience in
the field of property and machinery valuation. The valuation is performed on origination, periodically
in line with the Group policy and in the course of enforcement actions. Collateral for impaired loans
is reviewed regularly to ensure that it is still enforceable, and that the impairment allowance remains

appropriate given the current valuation.

The Group has considered all relevant factors, including local market conditions and practices,
before any collateral is realized. The collateral held by the Group against loans and advances is as

below;

Group
2024 2023
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Property 21,857,992 52,282,892
Cash 50,361,581 547,145

72,219,573 52,830,037

The Group monitors concentration of credit risk by sector. An analysis of concentration of credit risk
at the reporting date is shown below:

Group

2024 2023
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000

Concentration by segment (Gross)
Mortgage 24,432,556 24,045,835
Projects 7,473,777 8,328,934
Commercial 6,513,033 7,016,914
Unsecured 3,911,428 2,973,689
IPF 67,686 62,117
Micro 448,988 13

42,847,468 42,427,502
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Financial risk management (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Management of credit risk (continued)

Impairment assessment

The Group calculates ECLs either on a collective or an individual basis.
Asset classes where the Group calculates ECL on an individual basis include:
All Stage 3 assets, regardless of the class of financial assets:

e The treasury, trading and interbank relationships (such as due from Banks, cash collateral on
securities borrowed and reverse repurchase agreements and debt instruments at amortised
cost/FVOCI)

e Exposures that have been classified as POCI when the original loan was derecognised, and a
new loan was recognised as a result of a credit driven debt restructuring

Asset classes where the Group calculates ECL on a collective basis include:

e The smaller and more homogenous balances of the Group’s loan portfolio
e Stage 1 and 2 retail mortgages, consumer lending and construction projects
e POCI exposures managed on a collective basis

The Group groups these exposures into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on a combination of
internal and external characteristics of the loans.

The Bank incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment of whether the credit risk
of an instrument has increased significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL.
On the basis of a variety of external actual and forecast information, the Bank formulates a ‘base case’
view of the future direction of relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of other
possible forecast scenarios. This process involves developing two additional economic scenarios and
considering the relative probabilities of each outcome.

External information includes economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and
monetary authorities, other organisations such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Bank
and selected private-sector and academic forecasters.

The base case represents a most-likely outcome and is aligned with information used by the Bank for
other purposes such as strategic planning and budgeting. The other scenarios represent more
optimistic and more pessimistic outcomes. Periodically, the Bank carries out stress testing of more
extreme shocks to calibrate its determination of these other representative scenarios.
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(a) Credit risk (continued)
Measurement uncertainty and sensitivity analysis of ECL estimates
The ECL calculation is sensitive to changes in probability of default (PD) as explained below.
Probability of Default (PD)

The credit allowance estimate is also sensitive to changes in PD. An increase in PDs by 10bps
would result to an increase in expected credit losses by Shs 32,017,000 (2023: Shs 37,964,000)

Sensitivity Analysis: Change in PDs assigned
The case below considers alternative PDs to reflect change in ECL

Case: PDs deteriorate by 10% for each credit rating incrementally for base and worst case scenarios.

Base case  (‘PDs w%?:: Change in ECL allowance.
2024 by 10%) Increase
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 %
Stage 1 136,208 151,537 (15,329) (11)
Stage 2 154,436 171,124 (16,688) (10)
Stage 3 3,695,809 . - -
3,986,453 322,661 (32,017)
Cave Change in ECL allowance.
Base case (‘PDs worse
2023 by 10%) Increase
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 %
Stage 1 124,595 135,446 (10,851) 9)
Stage 2 131,715 158,828 (27,113) (21)
Stage 3 3,383,399 - - -
3,639,709 294,274 (37,964)

The focus of the simulations is on ECL allowance requirements on performing exposures in Stage 1 and
Stage 2. The simulations are run on a stand-alone basis and are independent of each other. The potential
ECL impacts reflect the simulated impact as at 31 December 2024.
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Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Scenario impacts on SICR are considered when evaluating the ECL movements of Stage 1 and Stage 2. In
all scenarios the total exposure and exposure by stage were the same. Stage 3 provisions are not subject
to the same level of measurement uncertainty - default is an observed event as at the balance sheet date.
Stage 3 provisions therefore have not been considered in this analysis.

Measurement of ECL

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:

. Probability of default (PD);
. Loss given default (LGD);
. Exposure at default (EAD).

These parameters are generally derived from internally developed statistical models and other historical
data. They are adjusted to reflect forward-looking information as described above.

PDs are estimates at a certain date, which are calculated based on statistical models, and assessed using
rating tools tailored to the various categories of counterparties and exposures. These statistical models are
based on internally compiled data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. Where it is available,
market data may also be used to derive the PD for loans and advances to banks and investment securities.
LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Bank estimates LGD parameters based
mainly on the counterparties’ collateral and also on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted
counterparties. The LGD models consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty
industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the financial asset. They are calculated on a
discounted cash flow basis using the effective interest rate as the discounting factor.

Further recent data and forward-looking economic scenarios are used in order to determine the IFRS 9 LGD
rate for each group of financial instruments. When assessing forward-looking information, the expectation is
based on multiple scenarios. Examples of key inputs involve changes in, collateral values including property
prices for mortgages, commodity prices, payment status or other factors that are indicative of losses in the
group. The Group estimates regulatory and IFRS 9 LGDs on a different basis. Under IFRS 9, LGD rates are
estimated for the Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) IFRS 9
segment of each asset class. The inputs for these LGD rates are estimated and, where possible, calibrated
through back testing against recent recoveries. These are repeated for each economic scenario as

appropriate.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross
carrying amount. For lending commitments and financial guarantees, the EAD includes the amount drawn,
as well as potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on
historical observations and forward-looking forecasts.
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Financial risk management (continued)
(a) Credit risk (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

The exposure at default (EAD) represents the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments
subject to the impairment calculation, addressing both the obligor’s ability to increase its exposure
while approaching default and potential early repayments too. To calculate the EAD for a Stage 1
loan, the Group assesses the possible default events within 12 months for the calculation of the 12
months ECL. However, if a Stage 1 loan that is expected to default in the 12 months from the balance
sheet date and is also expected to cure and subsequently default again, then all linked default events
are considered. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) financial
assets, the exposure at default is considered for events over the lifetime of the instruments.

The Group determines EADs by modelling the range of possible exposure outcomes at various points
in time, corresponding the multiple scenarios. The IFRS 9 PDs are then assigned to each economic
scenario based on the outcome of Group’s models.

Significant increase in credit risk

The Group continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an
instrument or a portfolio of instruments is subject to 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL, the Group
assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The
Group considers an exposure to have significantly increased in credit risk when the IFRS 9 lifetime
PD has doubled since initial recognition.

The Group also applies a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit
risk for an asset, such as moving a customer/facility to the watch list, or the account becoming
forborne. In certain cases, the Group may also consider that some events are a significant increase
in credit risk as opposed to a default. Regardless of the change in credit grades, if contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, the credit risk is deemed to have increased significantly
since initial recognition. For stage 1 loans and advances, a qualitative assessment is performed to
determine whether there has been a significant increase in credit.

When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets, the Group applies the same
principles for assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial

recoghnition.
Contingent liabilities and commitments

To meet the financial needs of customers, the Group enters into various irrevocable commitments and
contingent liabilities. These consist of financial guarantees, letters of credit and other commitments to
lend. Even though these obligations may not be recognised on the statement of financial position, they
contain credit risk and, therefore, form part of the overall risk of the Group.

Letters of credit and guarantees (including standby letters of credit) commit the Group to make

payments on behalf of customers in the event of a specific act, generally related to the import or
export of goods. Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry a similar credit risk to loans.
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
(a) Creditrisk (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

The nominal values of such commitments are listed below: -

Undrawn overdrafts
Letters of credit
Guarantees

Allowance for impairment losses

2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
79,215 40,978
94,935 39,474
607,593 2,428,566
781,743 2,509,018
(7,749) (23,730)
773,994 2,485,288

The loss allowance on outstanding commitments and financial guarantees is carried in other liabilities

and therefore no impact on the carrying amounts.

Impairment losses for loans and advances

The reconciliation from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance for loans and advances

has been disclosed under Note 21.

An estimate of the fair values of collateral held against loans and advances to customers is shown

below:

Against impaired accounts
Against accounts not impaired
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2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
21,857,992 9,964,325
50,361,581 42,865,712
72,219,573 52,830,037
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4

Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Management of liquidity risk

Typically, the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational
expenses for a period of 60 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the
potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural

disasters.

To limit this risk, management has arranged for diversified funding sources in addition to its core
deposit base and adopted a policy of managing assets with liquidity in mind and monitoring future
cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. The Group has developed internal control processes and
contingency plans for managing liquidity risk.

This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of high-grade collateral
which could be used to secure additional funding if required. The Group maintains a portfolio of highly
marketable and diverse assets that are assumed to be easily liquidated in the event of an unforeseen
interruption in cash flow. The Group also has lines of credit that it can access to meet liquidity needs.

In accordance with the Group’s policy, the liquidity position is assessed under a variety of scenarios,
giving due consideration to stress factors relating to both the market in general and specifically to the
Group. Net liquid assets consist of cash, short-term bank deposits and liquid debt securities available
for immediate sale, less deposits from banks and borrowings due to mature within the next month.

The Group stresses the importance of current accounts and savings accounts as sources of funds to
finance lending to customers. They are monitored using the advances to deposit ratio, which
compares loans and advances to customers as a percentage of core customer current and savings
accounts, together with term funding with a remaining term to maturity in excess of one year.

Treasury maintains a portfolio of short-term liquid assets, largely made up of short-term liquid
investment securities, loans and advances to banks and other inter-bank facilities, to ensure that
sufficient liquidity is maintained within the Group as a whole. The daily liquidity position is monitored
and regular liquidity stress testing is conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and
more severe market conditions. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval
by Board Risk Management Committee.

Exposure to liquidity risk
The key measure used by the Group for managing liquidity risk is the ratio of net liquid assets to
deposits from customers. For this purpose, net liquid assets are considered as including cash and

cash equivalents and investment securities for which there is an active and liquid market less any
deposits from financial institutions and commitments maturing within the next 81 days.
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4

Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

Details of the reported Group ratio of net liquid assets to customers’ deposits at the reporting date

and during the reporting period were as follows:

2024
At 31 December 41.90%
Average for the year 27.71%
Maximum for the year 41.90%
Minimum for the year 24.30%
Minimum statutory requirement 20.00%
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2023

24.25%
23.27%
27.00%
20.40%
20.00%
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Notes (continued)

4 Financial risk management (continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)
Liquidity reserves

The following table sets out the components of the Group’s liquidity reserves.

2024 2023
Liquidity reserves Shs’000 Shs’000
Cash at hand 678,473 367,508
Balances with commercial banks 478,339 302,222
Balances with Central Bank of Kenya: 1,421,885 1,475,340
Placements with other banks 1,066,290 607,391
Government securities 16,970,061 9,682,141
Total liquidity reserves 20,615,048 12,434,602

(c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates
and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

Management of market risks

The objective of market risk measurement is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable limits while optimising the return on risk. The Group’s Treasury is responsible for the
development of detailed market risk management policies and for day-to-day implementation of those

policies.

Furthermore, it includes the protection and enhancement of the statement of financial position and
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and facilitating business growth within a
controlled and transparent risk management framework.

All foreign exchange risk within the Group is managed by the Treasury department. Accordingly, the
foreign exchange position is treated as part of the Group’s trading portfolios for risk management
purposes.

Overall authority for market risk management is vested in the Board Risk Management Committee. The
Finance and Treasury departments in collaboration with the Risk Management department are
responsible for the development of detailed market risk management policies (subject to review and
approval by Board Risk Management Committee) and for the day-to-day review of their implementation.
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
(c) Market risk (continued)
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from recognised assets and liabilities. The Group’s exposure to foreign
currency risk arose from assets denominated in US Dollars, EUR and GBP was as follows:

31 December 2024 US$ GBP Euro Total
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (44,847) 40,062 98,102 93,317
Loans and advances to customers 1,428,412 30,805 1 1,459,218
Investment in government securities 1,945,701 - - 1,945,701
Other assets 30,749 139 434 31,322
Total assets 3,360,015 71,006 98,537 3,529,558
Liabilities
Customer deposits 2,131,124 13,612 5,793 2,150,529
Borrowed funds 892,287 - - 892,287
Other liabilities 393,552 56,697 91,687 541,936
Total liabilities 3,416,963 70,309 97,480 3,584,752
Net financial position (56,948) 697 1,057 (55,194)

31 December 2023

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 282,596 38,911 37,512 359,019
Loans and advances to customers 2,917,495 42,168 2 2,959,665
Investment in government securities 1,772,823 - - 1,772,823
Other assets 94,545 1,543 814 96,902
Total assets 5,067,459 82,622 38,328 5,188,409
Liabilities

Customer deposits 3,199,189 11,361 22,411 3,232,961
Borrowed funds 1,800,086 - - 1,800,086
Other liabilities - 119,511 14,152 133,663
Total liabilities 4,999,275 130,872 36,563 5,166,710
Net financial position 68,183 (48,249) 1,764 21,698
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4 Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Market risk (continued)

The following significant exchange rates applied during the period:

Average
rates
2024
US Dollar 134.70
EUR 145.83
GBP 172.18

Sensitivity analysis on exchange rates

Closing rates

2024
129.25
134.68
162.45

Average

rates
2023
140.06
151.49
174.33

Closing
rates
2023
157
173.85
200.08

The analysis below calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of the foreign currency
rates against the Kenya Shilling (all other variables being constant) on the Bank’s profit or loss and
equity. A 10% strengthening or weakening of the currencies below will result into an increase/decrease
in the Bank’s profit or loss and equity as shown below:

2024

Change in Effect on Effecton
currency profit before equity

income tax
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Us$ 10% (5,694) (3,986)
GBP 10% 70 49
EURO 10% 106 74

(i) Sensitivity analysis to interest rate risk

Change in
currency

10%
10%
10%

2023

Effect on
profit before
income tax
Shs’ 000

6,818

(4,825)

176

Effect on
equity

Shs’ 000
4,773
(3,377)
123

The following table sets out the components of the Group’s financial instruments subject to interest

rate risk:

Assets

Loans and advances
Government securities
Placements with banks

Total liquidity reserves
Liabilities

Deposits

Balances with CBK

Deposits from local Banks
Borrowings and income notes

Total liquidity reserves

Interest rate sensitivity gap

Interest rate

12.11%
13.23%
13.52%

6.32%

5.00%
10.85%

2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
38,861,015 38,787,793
16,970,061 9,682,141
1,066,290 607,000
56,897,366 49,076,934
47,470,795 43,851,506
- 1,500,000

388,106 -
2,743,820 3,793,300
50,602,721 49,144,806
6,294,645 (67,872)

At 31 December 2024, if interest rates at that date had been 50 basis points higher for assets and
100 basis points higher for liabilities with all other variables held constant, pre-tax loss for the year
would have been Shs 330,156,000 (2023: Shs 444,561,000) lower arising mainly as a result of lower
interest income and other components of equity would have been Shs 330,156,000 (2023: Shs
444,561,000) lower arising mainly as a result of lower interest income loans and advances.
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(c) Market risk (continued)
(i) ~ Other price risk
The Group does not hold any financial instruments subject to price risk.

(d) Operational risk

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses
and damage to the Group’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures
that restrict initiative and creativity.

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational
risk is assigned to senior management within each business unit. The responsibility is supported by
the development of overall Group standards for the management of operational risks. Compliance
with Group standards is supported by a programme of periodic reviews undertaken by internal audit.
The results of internal audit reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit to which
they relate, with summaries submitted to the Board Audit committee and senior management of the

Group.
Risk measurement and control

Interest rate, credit, liquidity, operational risk and other risks are actively managed by the Group’s
independent risk control to ensure compliance with the Group’s risk limits. The Group’s risk limits are
assessed regularly to ensure their appropriateness given the Group’s objectives and strategies and
current market conditions.

(e) Capital management

The responsibility of capital management lies with the assets and liabilities management committee
which ensures that all strategies conform to the Group’s risk appetite and levels of exposure. The
committee is also responsible for recommending to the Board of directors, prudent capital
management policies and procedures that will enable the Group to achieve its objectives and goals
while operating in full compliance with all capital requirements.

The Central Bank of Kenya sets and monitors capital requirements for banks and other non-bank
financial institutions. In implementing the current capital requirements Central Bank of Kenya requires
the Group to maintain a prescribed ratio of total risk weighted assets. This requirement is calculated
for market risk in the banking portfolio of HFC Limited.

The regulatory capital is analysed in two tiers:

e Tier 1 capital includes ordinary share capital, share premium, perpetual bonds, retained earnings,
translation reserve and non-controlling interest after deduction of goodwill and intangible assets
and other regulatory adjustments relating to items that are included in equity but are treated
differently for capital adequacy purposes.

e Tier 2 capital includes qualifying subordinated liabilities, collective impairment allowances and the
element of the fair value reserves relating to unrealized gains on equity instruments classified as
available for sale.
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4 Financial risk management (continued)

(e) Capital management (continued)

The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on
shareholders’ return is also recognised and the Group recognizes the need to maintain a balance
between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and

security afforded by a sound capital position.

The Group and its individually regulated operations have complied with all externally imposed capital
requirements throughout the year except for core and total capital ratio. The regulatory capital position

for HFC Limited, the Group’s banking subsidiary, as at 31 December 2024 was as follows:

Tier 1 capital 2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
Ordinary share capital 10,820,000 5,090,000
Share premium 3,513,662 3,513,662
Retained earnings (5,115,436)  (5,442,592)
Deferred income tax asset (5650,957) (1,078,922)
Total tier 1 capital 8,667,269 2,082,148
Tier 2 capital
Revaluation Reserve (25%) 105,000 105,000
Subordinated debt 667,417 867,417
Regulatory reserves 506,338 491,756
Total tier 2 capital 1,278,755 1,464,173
Total regulatory capital 9,946,024 3,546,321
Risk weighted assets 40,507,073 39,340,511
Capital ratios 2024 2023
Tot.al regulatory capital expressed as a percentage of total risk- 24 6% 9.01%
weighted assets
CBK minimum requirement 14.50% 14.50%
Total tier 1 capital expressed as a percentage of risk-weighted assets 21.4% 5.3%
CBK minimum requirement 10.50% 10.50%
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(e) Capital management (continued)

Central Bank of Kenya required the Group to maintain a minimum core capital of Shs 1 billion as at 31
December 2024. The Group is compliant with this requirement. The Group’s objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain
or adjust the capital structure, the Group may limit the amount of dividends paid to shareholders.

(f) Fair value measurement

The fair value of financial instruments is included at the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date,
or in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value
of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, loans and
advances, customer deposits and borrowed funds are evaluated by the Group based on parameters such
as interest rates, specific country factors and individual creditworthiness of the customer. The valuation is
performed on a discounted cash flow basis. Based on this evaluation, allowances are taken to account for
the expected losses of the receivables.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values. The fair values of the quoted

bonds are based on price quotations at the reporting date. The fair values of loans and advances,
borrowings and other financial liabilities, are estimated by discounting future cash flows using rates currently
available for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The fair values of remaining FVOCI
financial assets are derived from quoted market prices in active markets. There have been no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

The table below sets out the Bank's classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities, their
amortised cost and fair values including accrued interest:
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4 Financial risk management (continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

At amortised Total carrying
31 December 2024 FYIPL FVacl cost amount
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - 2,578,697 2,578,697
Placements with banks - - 1,066,290 1,066,290
nEsmEn I Geaaemment - 13,741,761 3,228,300 16,970,061
securities
Loan and advances to ) ) 38,861,015 38,861,015
customers
Derivatives 15,797 - - 15,797
Investment properties 1,905,000 - - 1,905,000
1,920,797 13,741,761 45,734,302 61,396,860
Financial liabilities
Deposits from Banks - - 388,106 388,106
Customer deposits - - 43,847,644 43,847,644
_Government of Kenya 52,860 52.860
income notes - -
Borrowings - 2,690,960 2,690,960
Derivatives - - - -
- - 46,979,570 46,979,570
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4 Financial risk management (continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

At amortised
VT FVOCI Total
31 December 2023 Sl oG cost ota
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - - 2,145,150 2,145,150
Placements with banks - - 607,391 607,391
Investment in government . 5645273 4,036,868 9,682,141
securities

Loan and advances to customers - - 38,787,793 38,787,793
Investment properties 1,885,000 - - 1,885,000
1,885,000 5,645,273 45,577,202 53,107,475

Financial liabilities
Deposits from Banks - - 1,500,000 1,500,000
Customer deposits - - 43,868,948 43,868,948
Government of Kenya income ) ) 52,860 52,860

notes

Borrowings - - 3,740,432 3,740,432
Derivatives 1,570 - - 1,570
1,570 - 49,162,240 49,163,810

Loans and advances to customers are net of provisions for impairment. A substantial proportion of loans
and advances is subject to price adjustments and hence the fair value approximates their carrying

amounts.

Valuation hierarchy

The valuation hierarchy, and types of instruments classified into each level within that hierarchy, is set out

below:

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Fair value
determined using:

Unadjusted quoted
prices in an active
market for identical
assets and liabilities

Valuation techniques that
maximise the use of
observable market data
and rely as little as
possible on entity-specific
estimates.

Valuation models
using significant
unobservable
market data

Types of financial
assets:

Actively traded
government and
other securities.

Corporate and other
government bonds and
loans

Corporate bonds in
illiquid markets

Types of financial
liabilities:

Actively traded
corporate bonds in
liquid markets.

Leases whose valuation
model references directly
or indirectly market
observable inputs.

Actively traded
corporate bonds in
illiquid markets.
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

Valuation hierarchy (continued)

The table below shows the classification of assets held at fair value by the level in the fair value

hierarchy as at 31 December 2024:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
31 December 2024 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Financial assets
Cash and balances with banks - 2,578,697 - 2,578,697
Placements with other banks - 1,066,290 - 1,066,290
Loans and advances - 38,861,015 - 38,861,015
Investment in government
securities - 13,741,761 - 13,741,761
Non-financial assets
Investment properties - 1,905,000 - 1,905,000
Derivative Assets - 15,797 - 15,797
- 58,168,560 - 58,168,560
Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers - 47,470,735 - 47,470,735
Deposits from banks - 388,106 - 388,106
Derivative liabilities
- 47,858,841 - 47,858,841
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4 Financial risk management (continued)
(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

Valuation hierarchy (continued)

31 December 2023

Financial assets

Cash and balances with banks

Placements with other banks

Loans and advances

Investment in government
securities

Non-financial assets
Investment properties

Financial liabilities
Deposits from customers
Deposits from banks
Derivative liabilities

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
- 2,145,150 - 2,145,150

- 607,391 - 607,391

- 38,787,793 - 38,787,793
5,645,273 - - 5,645,273
- 1,885,000 - 1,885,000
5,645,273 43,425,334 - 49,070,607
- 43,847,644 - 43,847,644

- 3,193 - 3,193

- 1,570 - 1,570

- 43,852,407 - 43,852,407

The income approach is used in valuing investment property. The market value of such property is
mainly based on the property’s anticipated income (rent) from the perspective of a prudent investor. The
rate is obtained by analysing actual and prudent property sales and rental incomes. This has also been
closely compared with the recent trends in the market where such rental spaces are sold as small office

suites.
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5 Operating segments

The Group offers its services through various business segments, each business unit (entity) is reviewed
separately for decision making.

The HF Bancassurance Intermediary (formerly HF Insurance Agency Limited) — offers insurance
solutions to both HF customer base and currently reaching out to the general public and partnering
with underwriters on different bancassurance solutions including general and life insurance.

HF Development and Investment Limited — (formerly known as Kenya Building Society Limited)
was previously a property development company. The current entity strategy is providing wealth
management solutions, affordable housing partnership and property advisory and sales services.

Retail Banking- This segment encompasses branch-based Business tailored for individual
customers and small businesses.

Corporate Banking- This comprises of Treasury, Custodial and Financial institutions business,
serving the financial needs of larger corporate clients, institutions, and government entities.
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)
5 Operating segments (continued)

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities

2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
Net interest income
Total net interest income for reportable segments 2,871,741 2,747,299
Other interest income adjustments (60,465) (54,516)
Consolidated net interest income 2,811,276 2,692,783
Non-interest income
Total non-interest income for reportable segments 1,498,799 1,234,021
Other non-interest income (117,537) (102,468)
Consolidated non-interest income 1,381,262 1,131,553

Profit or loss
Total profit or loss for reportable segments 459,993 334,484
Other profit or loss - -

Consolidated profit before income tax 459,993 334,484
Assets

Total assets for reportable segments 72,378,464 62,416,002
Other assets (2,230,682) (865,573)
Consolidated total assets 70,147,782 61,550,429
Liabilities

Total liabilities for reportable segments 56,757,496 51,251,551
Other liabilities (2,291,381) 1,431,459
Consolidated total liabilities 54,466,115 52,683,010
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Notes (continued)
6 Interestincome and expense

(a) Interestincome

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Loans and advances 4,914,481 4,174,558 - -
Deposit with banks 57,776 27,413 - -
Financial assets at amortised cost 388,084 444,330 - -
Financial assets at FVOCI 1,195,007 701,307 - -

6,555,348 5,347,608 = 5

Included within interest income is Shs306 million (2023: Shs282 million) in respect of credit impaired
financial assets

(b) Interest expense

Deposits from customers 2,937,070 1,814,701 - -
Deposits from banks 91,384 255,477 - -
Repurchase agreement with CBK 356,259 199,023 - -
Borrowings 335,748 355,477 - -
Lease liabilities 23,611 30,147 - -

3,744,072 2,654,825 5 -

7 (a) Fee and commission income

Fees and commissions charged for services provided or received by the Group and Company are
recognised as the service is performed.

Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Service fefes and cor_nm*ifsmn 184,505 199,987 ) )

/transactional banking

Custodial services 81,046 19,082 - -
Other commissions* 276,772 195,400 - -
542,323 414,469 - -

*Other commissions majorly consist of commission on house and plot sales from HFDI.

**The service fees largely relate to fees earned from transactions with customers and commissions
charged on facilitation of remittances.
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Notes (continued)

7 (b) Fee and commission expense

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Fees and commission expense 68,776 73,688 - -
68,776 73,688 - -
8 Net trading income
Foreign currency exchange gains 211,400 175,977 - -
Fair value loss on derivatives 15,797 (1,570) - -
227,197 174,407 - -
9 Other income
Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Rental income 86,893 85,164 - -
Sales income 58,518 110,152 - -
Other income * 349,979 277,176 109,961 98,600
Insurance commission 73,110 70,185 - -
568,500 542,677 109,961 98,600

* Other income includes project management fees and commissions, Bancassurance profit share gain
on lease modification as well as gains on disposal of property plant and equipment.
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Notes (continued)

10 Other operating expenses

11

12

Occupancy expenses

Deposit Protection Fund

Cost of sales Theta plots
Marketing expenses

Information technology expenses
Legal expenses

Office expenses

Auditor remuneration

General administration expenses

Employee benefits

The following items are included in salaries and employee benefits:

Salaries and other staff costs

Remuneration to executive directors

NSSF contributions

Contributions to the defined contribution
retirement scheme

Contributions to Housing Levy

Average number of employees

Depreciation and amortisation

Depreciation of property and equipment
(Note 19)

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 20)
Amortisation of right-of-use asset (Note 35

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
69,351 65,047 - -
86,985 80,184 - -
43,482 81,848 - -
148,072 57,762 61,571 1,865
355,311 282,387 - -
38,754 59,733 - -
130,862 66,604 5,316 5,998
23,715 17,234 2,029 1,551
269,985 473,371 20,160 11,394
1,166,517 1,184,170 89,076 20,808
Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
1,681,109 1,484,832 50,262 49,310
95,627 52,029 42,918 23,584
13,889 3,643 49 24
85,106 73,665 507 380
18,544 11,643 700 342
1,894,275 1,625,812 94,436 73,640
634 568 2 2
Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
84,211 77,652 242 273
77,443 213,106 - -
76,864 74,071 - -
238,518 364,829 242 273
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Notes (continued)

13 Income tax

(@) Income tax credit

The tax on the Group’s and Company's loss before income tax differs from the theoretical amount

using the basic tax rate as follows:

Profit /(loss) before income tax

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 30% (2023:

30%)
Tax effect of non-chargeable income
Tax effect of non-deductible costs

Income tax credit

Current income tax at 30% (2023: 30%)
Deferred tax movement (Note 26)

Prior year deferred tax over provision (Note
26)

Current income tax recoverable
At start of year

Charge for the year
Paid during the year

At end of year

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
459,993 334,484 (73,793) 3,878
137,998 100,345 - 1,163
(246,325) (202,781) 18,438 (1,626)
43,635 48,764
(64,692) (53,672) 18,438 (463)
31,955 29,686 - -
(96,647) (87,340) 18,438 (1,624)
- 3,982 - -
(64,692) (53,672) 18,438 (1,624)
367,255 365,267 57,486 52,016
(31,955) (29,687) - -
37,451 31,675 2171 5,470
372,751 367,255 59,657 57,486
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Notes (continued)

14 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated based on the loss attributable to shareholders divided by the

number of ordinary shares in issue in each year as follows:

15

2024 2023

Shs’000 Shs’000

Net profit for the year attributable to shareholders 524,685 388,156
Number of ordinary shares in issue (000’s) 1,885,488 384,614
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (000’s) 582,429 384,614
Basic earnings per share 0.90 1.01
0.90 1.01

Diluted earnings per share

Dividends

(a) Proposed dividends

Proposed dividends are accounted for as a separate component of equity until they have been ratified
at an annual general meeting. No dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil)

has been proposed.

(b) Reconciliation of dividends payable — Group and Company:

2024 2023

Shs’000 Shs’000

At start of year 246 246

Dividends paid during the year - -

At end of year 246 246

16 (a)Cash and balances with banks
Group Company

2024 2023 2024 2023

Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000

Cash at hand 678,473 367,508 - -

Balances with commercial banks 478,454 302,322 250,753 1,107

Placements with other banks (Note 17) 1,066,290 607,391 - -
Balances with Central Bank of Kenya:

- Restricted (Cash Reserve Ratio) 1,421,885 1,475,340 - -

3,645,102 2,752,561 250,753 1,107
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16 (a)Cash and balances with banks (continued)

12-month ECL.:

At start of year
Re-measurement during the year

Allowance for impairment losses

Cash and balances with banks
Placement with other banks

Movement in restricted balances:
Group
At start of year

Movement during the year

At end of year

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
80 (3) - -
35 83 17 -
115 80 17 -
3,644,987 2,752,541 250,736 1,107
2,678,697 2,145,150 250,736 1,107
1,066,290 607,391 = -
3,644,987 2,752,541 250,736 1,107
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
1,475,340 1,563,593
(53,455) (88,253)
1,421,885 1,475,340

The Cash Reserve Ratio (CRR) is non-interest earning and is based on the value of deposits as adjusted
for the Central Bank of Kenya requirements. At 31 December 2024, the Cash Reserve Ratio was 4.25%

(2023: 4.25%) of all deposits.
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16 (b)Net debt reconciliation

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for each of the periods

presented.
Group 2024 2023
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 16(a)) 2,223,102 1,277,201
Liquid investments:
Investment in government securities (Note 18) 16,970,061 9,682,141
Borrowings - repayable within one year (Note 30) (2,047,419) (2,953,956)
Borrowings - repayable after one year (Note 30) (643,541) (786,476)
Lease liabilities (192,819) (261,513)
Net cash 16,309,384 6,957,397
Group 2024 2023
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Cash and other liquid investments 19,193,163 10,959,342
Gross debt - fixed interest rates (1,612,252) (2,405,329)
Gross debt - variable interest rates (1,271,527) (1,596,616)
16,309,384 6,957,397
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Notes (continued)

16 (b)Net debt reconciliation

Liquid assets Borrowings Leases Total
Cashand Governm- Due within  Due after 1 Lease
cash ent 1 year year liabilities
equivalents securities
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Year ended 31
December 2024
At start of year 1,277,201 9,682,141  (2,953,956) (786,476)  (261,513) 6,957,397
Cash flows 945,901 7,287,920 906,537 143,205 106,397 9,389,960
NorFcasn - - - - (37,703)  (37,703)
movements
At end of year 2,223,102 16,970,061 (2,047,419) (643,271)  (192,819) 16,309,654
Year ended 31
December 2023
At start of year 633,691 8,540,137 (2,383,520) (1,934,237)  (432,064) 4,424,007
Cash flows 643,510 1,142,004 (570,436) 1,147,761 122,435 2,485,274
Non-cash - - . . 48116 48,116
movements
Foreign exchange - - - - - -
At end of year
1,277,201 9,682,141 (2,953,956) (786,476)  (261,513) 6,957,397
17 Placements with other banks
Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
Placements with other banks 1,066,655 607,392
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (365) (1
1,066,290 607,391

The weighted average effective interest rate on placements with other banks was 13.52% (2023: 12.27%).
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Notes (continued)

18 Investment in government securities

Held at amortised cost Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
Treasury bills and bonds 3,228,300 4,036,868
FVOCI
Treasury bonds 13,741,761 5,645,273

16,970,061 9,682,141

The weighted average effective interest rate on government securities at 31 December was 13.23% (2023:

12.29%).
The table below shows the movement in the investments in the year:
Held at amortised cost Group
2024 2023

Shs’000 Shs’000
At start of year 4,044,852 3,779,143
Purchases during the year 20,000 335,709
Sales/Maturities during the year (829,530) (70,000)
At end of year 3,235,322 4,044,852

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

At start of year 5,645,273 4,760,994
Purchases during the year 30,426,413 16,553,746
Sales/maturities during the year (22,988,047) (15,290,889)
Gain/(loss) on fair valuation (Note 31) 687,796 (378,578)
At end of year 13,771,435 5,645,273
Total government securities 17,006,757 9,690,125

Less 12 months ECL

At start of year (7,984) (129)
Re-measurement during the year (28,712) (7,855)
At end of year (36,696) (7,984)
Total government securities net ECL 16,970,061 9,682,141
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Notes (continued)

18 Investment in government securities

Maturity analysis for the investments in government securities Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
Maturing within 90 days 830,00 590,000
Maturing after 90 days 16,140,061 9,092,141
16,970,061 9,682,141
19 Property and equipment
(a) Group Freehold Leasehold Buildings Furniture, Total
land land fixtures,
equipment &
motor
vehicles
Year ended 31 December Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
2024
Cost or valuation
At start of year 62,000 180,000 380,000 1,380,309 2,002,309
Additions - - - 159,936 159,936
Work in progress - - - 6,960 6,960
Disposals - - - (2,774) (2,774)
At end of year 62,000 180,000 380,000 1,544,431 2,166,431
Accumulated depreciation
At start of year - 6,310 23,775 1,179,589 1,209,674
Charge for the year - - 10,233 73,978 84,211
At end of year - 6,310 34,008 1,253,567 1,293,885
Nt book valoe at end of 62,000 173,690 345,992 290,864 872,546

year
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19 Property and equipment (continued)

(b) Group Freehold Leasehold Buildings Furniture, Total
land land fixtures,
equipmen
t & motor
vehicles
Year ended 31 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
December 2023
Cost or valuation
At start of year 62,000 - 360,000 1,295,663 1,717,663
Additions - - - 85,183 85,183
Work in progress - - - 12,336 12,336
Disposals - - - (12,873) (12,873)
Valuation gain - 20,000 - 20,000
Transfer from right of use i 180,000 ) ) 180,000
asset
At end of year 62,000 180,000 380,000 1,380,309 2,002,309

Accumulated
depreciation

At start of year - - 13,716 1,124,632 1,138,248
Charge for the year - - 10,059 67,593 77,652
Disposals - - - (12,536) (12,536)
Transfers - 6,310 - - 6,310
At end of year - 6,310 23,775 1,179,589 1,209,674

Net book value at end of

62,000 173,690 356,225 200,720 792,635
year
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19 Property and equipment (continued)

The buildings were revalued on 31 December 2024 by Tyson's Limited, a firm of independent
professional valuers based on open market value approach. The net book value of properties at their

historical cost is as follows:

Free hold land
Buildings

(b) Company

Cost or valuation

At start of year

Additions

At end of year
Accumulated depreciation

At start of year
Charge for the year

At end of year

Net book value at end of year

90

2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
52,000 52,000
330,000 310,000
382,000 362,000

Furniture, fixtures,
equipment & motor vehicles

2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
1,727 1,727
200 -
1,927 1,727
1,000 727
242 273
1,242 1000
685 727
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Notes (continued)

20 Intangible assets

Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
Cost:
At start of year 2,119,324 1,960,913
Additions during the year 89,531 147,222
Work in progress 26,333 11,189
At end of year 2,235,188 2,119,324
Accumulated amortisation
At start of year 1,841,427 1,628,321
Amortisation during the year 77,443 213,106
At end of year 1,918,870 1,841,427
Net book value at end of year 316,318 277,897
21 Investments in subsidiary companies and ventures
(a) Subsidiaries
Company
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
HFC Limited 100% 14,333,662 8,603,662
HF Development and Investment Limited (HFDI) 100% 1,243,912 1,243,912
First Permanent (East Africa) Limited (FPEAL) 100% 5,020 5,020
HF Insurance Agency Limited (HFIA) 100% 5,000 5,000
15,587,594 9,857,594

An impairment assessment was conducted on the investments in subsidiaries and no impairment was
identified.
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21

(b)

Investments in subsidiary companies (continued)

Investment in Joint ventures & associate

Kahawa Downs Limited
Precious Heights Limited
Richland Development Limited
Claycity Limited

Theta Dam Estate Limited

At end of year

Group’s share of profit in joint ventures
Kahawa Downs Limited

Kahawa Downs Limited prior year adjustment *
Precious Heights Limited

Precious Heights Limited prior year adjustment*
Richland Development Limited

Claycity Limited

Theta Dam Estate Limited

50%
50%
50%
33%
50%

50%
50%
50%

33%
50%

Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
103,155 112,217
87,815 77,342
101,572 101,410
483,144 483,630
892,677 870,521
1,668,363 1,645,120
(97) (428)
- 1,480
1,509 1,772
- (7,486)
163 1,177
(485) (2,076)
22,153 37,507
23,243 31,946

The Group has classified its interest in these entities as a joint venture, which is equity accounted.

92



€6

£9€°899'L 119268 vyl e8y 0.5°L01 118'/8 GGL'€0L
£Y2'eT £sl'ee (G8p) €ol 60G'L (26)
0ZL'G¥9'L ¥25'0.8 629'c8Y L0¥'101 80€£'08 zsz'eol
€9€'899°| 119268 vylL'cgy 025101 118'/8 GGL'E0L
ZLS've8'e $Ge'68." | v20'v9v'L ovL'€0e ¥€9'G/1 0L€'902
£ye'ee €51'ez (G8v) €91 60S'L (26)
G86'GY 90¢' v (69t'L) GZE 910'¢ (e61)
(686'81) (686'81)
(6¥1'S61) (Lzo'sslL) (666'€) (GPL) (L22'2) (€L2)
€21'092 oLe‘lLsT 0€5'Z (VA% 181'G 0z

%05 %EE %05 %05 %0S
000.SUS 000.SUS 000.SUS 000.SUS 000.SUS 000.SYS

psyiwi pajiwi pajiw pajiwi

aje)sy pajywi juawdojanag sjyblaH juswdojanaqg
|ejol weqgejayyl Auoshe|n puejyory snojoald emeyey

leak Jo pus Je ss)seAul ul }salsjul jo Junowe Buikue)
(ssoj)/ewooul

dAIsuaya1dwoa |e)jo} Jeak Jualind jo aleys dnol

Jeak ayj jo Bujuuibaq sy Je sjesse Jou uj Jsalelul s,dnois

sjasse jau jo aseys sdnoig

SEREIN

Jjoad/(ssoj) 3au jo aseys dnoig

awooul aAisuayaldwod Jayjo pue Jyoid/(sso)

asuadxa xe} awoou|
S}s09 Buneladp
anuanay

BuipjoH %

Y202 Jequiada( |L§ papus Jeaj
dnoig

'SpJepue)s Bununoooy Syl Ym ouepIoode Ul paledaid SjUSLWSIe)s [BIDUBUY JIBY) UO Paseq pajiwi a}e}s] weq ey |
pue papwi AjioAerd ‘payiwi juswdojersq puelyory ‘pajiwi siybloH Snoloald ‘pejilWi] SUMOQ EMEUEY| Joj uonewloul [eloUBUY paziBWWNS 818 BuImojjo) oy |

(panunuod) sainjuaa juior (q)

(penunuod) seiuedwos Areipisqns uj Juawysanuj

14

(panupuod) sajoN

Y202 Jaquiaoa( |¢ papus Jesk ayy Jo4
sjuswaje)s |eloueuly
9ld dnoi9 4H



¥6

‘'sjuswisie)s [eroueuy paubis ainjuan juiof sy} Jad se painjded jou sem jey) zz0z Wol J1joid Jo sleys o) sejejal Juswisnipe Jeak soud sy,

0ZL'SY9'L ¥25'0.8 629'c8Y L0¥'10L 80€£'08 Z6Z'€0L
266'.¢€ 10S°'/¢€ (920'2) AN zLl') (82v)
69L°209°L L10'€E8 G0.'S8Y 0€Z'001 9€G'v8 089'€0L
0Z1'SP9‘L ¥25°0.8 629'c8P 80%'LOL 80€£'98 ATAN])
¥25'88."¢ 8v0° LY.L L Zve'eorL 918202 GL9Z/L £0G6'902
ov6'LE 10S'/€ (920'2) LIL'L (¥12'G) Zs0'L
(900'9) - . - (98%'2) 08t'L
756'.€ 10S'/€ (920'2) L1} zLL'L (8z¥)
Gos'el ¥10'GL (162'9) ¥5€'2 £¥S'e (558)
(182'v2) (€22'v2) (¥) (¥03)
(ose'vel) (96€'901) (get'9) (szz's) (BEY'S) (5s8)
968222 €89'G0Z i) £80'8 786'8 -

%08 %EE %0S %0S %05
000.SUS 000.SYS 000.SUS 000.SYS 000.SUS 000.SUS

paywI psjiwn 3 pajiw pajwi
|eyol aje)sg pajyiwi uaswdojenag sjybisH juswdojanaq

weqgeayl fohen puejyary snojdald emeyey|

Jeak Jo pus Je as)saAul U] JsaIajul Jo Junowe Bulkue)

awooul aAIsusya1dwond |ejo} Jeak jusuind Jo aleys dnols)
leak
8y} Jo Buiuuibaq ay) e sjesse Jau ul jsalaul s,dnolg

sjasse Jau Jo aseys sdnolo

sjesse 19N

Jusawisnlpe teak Joug

Ss0] jJau jo aleys dnoig

awooul aAIsusyaidwod Jsyjo pue jyoid/(sso)
asuadxa xe] awoou|

S}s09 BuiesadQ
anuanay

Buip|oH %

€202 laquiasa( LE papua Jea)
dnoug
(panunuos) sainjuaa juior (q)

(penunuoo) seluedwos Aleipisqns uj sjusunsaau] |z

(panunuoo) sajoN

¥20¢ Jequiada( |g papus Jeak ay) Jo4
sjuswale)s [eloueuld
9ld dnoio 4H



HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)
22 Loans and advances at amortised cost

Group

Gross loans and advances to customers
Less: Provision for expected credit losses

Net loans and advances to customers

Current
Non-current portion

Gross loans and advances

Stage 1 loans
Stage 2 loans
Stage 3 loans

Stage 1 impairment
Stage 2 impairment
Stage 3 impairment

Net loans and advances

95

2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
42,847,468 42,427,502
(3,986,453) (3,639,709)
38,861,015 38,787,793

7,601,853 6,188,328
35,245,615 36,239,174
42,847,468 42,427,502
27,612,434 27,817,660

3,270,559 3,790,128
11,964,475 10,819,714
42,847,468 42,427,502

(136,208) (124,595)

(154,436) (131,715)
(3,695,809) (3,383,399)
(3,986,453) (3,639,709)
38,861,015 38,787,793




HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)

22 Loans and advances (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on loans and advances

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
Not credit
impaired

Year ended 31 December 2024 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
At start of the year 124,595 131,715 3,383,399 3,639,709
Movements during the year:

ransfer to 12 months ECL 284,787 (84,025) (200,762) -
_ rangfer to lifetime ECL not credit (663) 269,630 (268,967) )
impaired
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit impaired (16) (6,546) 6,562 -
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (292,743) (163,125) 1,032,377 576,509
Net financial assets originated 26,022 11,410 - 37,432
Financial assets derecognised (5,774) (4,623) (256,800) (267,197)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 136,208 154,436 3,695,809 3,986,453
Year ended 31 December 2023
At start of the year 102,970 299,976 3,028,743 3,431,689
Movements during the year:
Transfer to 12 months ECL 6,624 (3,401) (3,223) -
Tran_sfer to lifetime ECL not credit (13,076) 131,152 (118,076) -
impaired
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit impaired (2,711) (42,603) 45,314 -
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (8,864) (269,907) 602,926 324,155
Net financial assets originated 46,622 20,398 25,116 92,136
Financial assets derecognised (6,970) (3,900) (197,401) (208,271)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 124,595 131,715 3,383,399 3,639,709
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Notes (continued)

22 Loans and advances at amortised cost (continued)

2024

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Year ended 31 December 2024 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Gross carrying amount at start of year 27,817,660 3,790,128 10,819,714 42,427,502
Transfer to 12 months ECL 2,178,688 (1,670,739) (507,949) -
Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit impaired (245,246) 1,678,542  (1,433,296) -
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit impaired (1,375) (152,796) 154,171 -
Net remeasurement (4,741,314) (553,630) 3,342,989  (1,951,955)
Net financial assets originated 4,295,371 328,205 4,623,576
Financial assets derecognised (1,691,350) (149,151) (162,735)  (2,003,236)
Write offs - - (248,419) (248,419)
Gross carrying amount at end of year 27,612,434 3,270,559 11,964,475 42,847,468
Year ended 31 December 2023 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Gross carrying amount at start of year 26,009,720 5,234,210 8,486,934 39,730,864
ransfer to 12 months ECL 1,620,346  (1,289,110) (331,236) -
Transfer to lifetime ECL not credit impaired (413,796) 2,354,883  (1,941,087) -
ITransfer to lifetime ECL credit impaired (2,850) (394,917) 397,767 -
Net remeasurement (826,464) (2,093,496) 4,564,581 1,644,621
Net financial assets originated 2,962,067 243,655 46,537 3,252,259
Financial assets derecognised (1,531,363) (265,097) (302,503)  (2,098,963)
Write offs - - (101,279) (101,279)
Gross carrying amount at end of year 27,817,660 3,790,128 10,819,714 42,427,502

The weighted average effective interest rate on loan advances to customers as at 31 December

2024 was 12.11% (2023: 10.62%).
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Notes (continued)

22 Loans and advances at amortised cost (continued)

Loss allowance on financial instruments

The following table provides a reconciliation between the ‘impairment losses on financial instruments’ line
item in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Loans and Guarantees Cash and Other Investment Total
advances to and letters cash financial in
customers of credit equivalents assets and Government
receivables securities
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Year ended 31
December 2024
Net re-
measurement of 576,509 (15,982) 392 (23,145) 28,712 566,486
loss allowance
New financial
assets originated 37,432 - - - - 37,432
or purchased
Financial assets
derecognized (267,197) - - - - (267,197)
Write-offs 17,716 - - - - 17,716
364,460 (15,982) 392 (23,145) 28,712 354,437
Loans and Guarantees Cash and Other Investment Total
advances to and letters cash financial in
customers of credit equivalents assets and Government
receivables securities
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Year ended 31
December 2023
Net re-
measurement of 324,155 11,587 72 22,645 7,855 366,314
loss allowance
New financial
assets originated 92,136 - - - - 92,136
or purchased
Financial assets
derecognized (208,271) - - - - (208,271)
Write offs 101,279 - - - - 101,279
309,299 11,587 72 22,645 7,855 351,458
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Notes (continued)

22 Loans and advances at amortised cost (continued)

Analysis of loans per segment

2024 2023
Gross Loss Carrying Gross Loss Carrying
allowance amount allowance amount
Segment Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Commercial 6,513,033 (358,634) 6,154,399 7,016,914 (431,277) 6,585,637
IPF 67,686 (5,908) 61,778 62,117 (1,436) 60,681
Micro 448,988 (77) 448,911 13 (8) 5
Mortgage 24,432,556 (916,662) 23,515,894 24,045,835 (823,192) 23,222,643
Projects 7,473,777 (2,017,379) 5,456,398 8,328,934 (1,999,716) 6,329,218
Unsecured 3,911,428 (687,793) 3,223,635 2,973,689 (384,080) 2,589,609
42,847,468 (3,986,453) 38,861,015 42,427,502 (3,639,709) 38,787,793
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HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)

23 Other assets

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Trade receivables 1,430,790 1,297,735 - 2,519
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (26,957) (61,834) - (13)
1,403,833 1,235,901 - 2,506
Prepayments 267,706 248,020 552 527
Receivable from KMRC 50,000 50,000 - -
Foreclosed assets deposits 99,308 103,819 - -
Foreclosed assets 866,605 857,709 - -
2,687,452 2,495,449 552 3,033

12-month ECL:

At start of year (61,834)  (37,995) (13) (6,970)
Re-measurement during the year 34,877 (23,839) (19) 6,957
At end of year (26,957) (61,834) (32) (13)

Other assets are settled no more than 12 months after the reporting date. All the balances are non-

interest bearing.

24 Investment in property fund

Assets as at start of the year
Partnership distributions

As at end of the year

2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
380,207 380,207
168,564 -
548,771 380,207

HF Development and Investments Limited has invested in HF Property fund with a partner Crescent Finco.
The assets owned by the property fund will be realized progressively and the proceeds distributed to the
partners (Crescent Finco and HF Development and Investment Limited) in accordance with the partnership
agreement. Crescent Finco will receive cash distribution first until its investment plus a return of 12% is

fully paid. The residue will be distributed to HFDI Limited.

The proceeds from the sale of the assets (housing units) would be used to settle the loan balance to
Crescent Finco and any residual balance after clearing the loan balance would go to HFDI Limited.

In December 2024, HFDI paid off Cresent Finco, resulting to partnership distributions into HFDI increasing

the investment in property fund.
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Notes (continued)

25 Inventories

At start of the year

Inventories (housing units and plots) (sales/additions)

At end of year

Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
525,819 414,604
(43,481) 111,215
482,338 525,819

Inventories held comprise of 2- and 3-bedroom units at Komarock Heights and Theta Dam plots

for sale.
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Notes (continued)

26 Deferred income tax

(a) Group

Year ended 31 December Atstart of Recognise Recognise Prioryear Atend of
2024 year din profit din other (under)/ year

orloss comprehe over

nsive provision

income
Shs’000 Shs’ 000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Property and equipment (15,240) (12,660) - - (27,900)
Revaluation surplus (182,088) - - - (182,088)
Financial assets at FVOCI 130,548 - (206,339) (741) (76,532)
Investment property (44.,454) - - - (44,454)
Other general provisions 16,953 (25,401) - - (8,448)
Right of use asset 97,513 (18,673) - - 78,840
Trading losses 772,009 49,776 - - 821,785
General provision on loans 989,228 104,023 ) - 1,093,251
and advances

Deferred income tax 1,764,469 97,065 (206,339) (741) 1,654,454

Deferred tax liability

Year ended 31 December At start of year
2024

Charge to P&L At end of year

Shs 000 Shs 000 Shs 000

Furmture, fittings and 27 27) )
equipment

Provisions 460 443 903

487 416 903
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Notes (continued)

26 Deferred income tax (continued)

(a) Group
Year ended 31 At start of Recognised Recognisedin Prioryear Atend of
December 2023 year in profit or other under year
loss comprehensive  provision
income
Shs’000 Shs’ 000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Property and equipment (89,362) 16,035 - 58,087 (15,240)
Revaluation surplus (174,588) (4,500) (3,000) - (182,088)
Financial assets at
FVOCI 16,975 - 113,573 - 130,548
Investment property (44,454) - - - (44,454)
Other general provisions 8,693 8,260 - - 16,953
Right of use asset 101,671 (4,158) - - 97,513
Trading losses 766,541 9,297 - (3,829) 772,009
General provision on
loans and advances 985,062 62,406 - (58,240) 989,228
Deferred income tax 1,570,538 87,340 110,573 (3,982) 1,764,469
Deferred tax liability
Year ended 31 December At start of Charge to P&L At end of year
2023 year
Shs 000 Shs 000 Shs 000
Furniture, fittings and 61 (34) 27
equipment
Provisions (107) 567 460
(46) 533 487
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Notes (continued)
26 Deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Company

At start of year Recognised in At end of
profit or loss year
Year ended 31 December 2024 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Property and equipment (44) (30) (74)
Trading losses 7,551 53,806 61,357
General provisions 41,870 (35,338) 6,532
Net deferred tax 49,377 18,438 67,815
Year ended 31 December 2023 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Property and equipment (39) (5) (44)
Trading losses 9,286 (1,735) 7,551
General provisions 40,593 1,277 41,870
Net deferred tax 49,840 (463) 49,377
27 (a)Deposits from customers
Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
Government and parastatals:

Payable within 90 days 14,048,724 8,888,748
Payable after 90 days and within one year 3,268,948 4,144,050

Private sector and individuals:
Payable within 90 days 23,081,409 12,734,281
Payable after 90 days and within one year 6,169,021 8,986,060
Payable after one year 902,693 9,094,505
47,470,795 43,847,644
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Notes (continued)

27 Deposits from customers

The weighted average effective interest rate on interest bearing customer deposits at 31 December
2024 was 5% (2023 5.84%). The carrying value of customer deposits approximates their fair value.
The summary of terms and conditions for the various categories of deposits are below:

()

(F)

Mortgage scheme deposits — These are deposits under scheme arrangements where an
employer has provided funds for onward lending to their staff within set rules and regulations.
Funded schemes have a lower interest rate than the market whereas for unfunded schemes
the interest rates are usually at commercial rates and any discount on rates is based on
volumes.

Fixed term deposits — This account targets both individuals and corporates that will not need
to access their funds for duration of time which is usually from 1 to 12 months. The minimum
operating balance is Shs 50,000.

Housing development bond — This account targets individuals who wish to save towards home
ownership while at the same time earning attractive interest rates on their deposits. interest
earned is subjected to a 10% withholding tax consolidated amount of up to Shs 300,000 as
opposed to the normal rate of 15%. The minimum operating balance is Shs 50,000.

Transactional deposits — These accounts are characterized by unlimited access to funds and
they earn no interest. They attract fees based on transactions. The minimum opening balance
is Shs 200.

Current accounts — It allows unlimited access to funds through various channels with the
cheque book being the unique instrument used to access the funds. It earns no interest. The
minimum opening balance is Shs 2,000.

Savings accounts - A savings account that earns relatively higher interest. It has limited access
to funds. There’s no minimum operating balance.

(b)Deposits from banks

Group

2024 2023

Shs’000 Shs’000

Inter- bank lending 388,106 3,193

(c)Deposits from the Central Bank

Group

2024 2023

Shs’000 Shs’000

Repurchase agreement - 1,500,000

The Banking subsidiary entered into a repurchase agreement with the Central Bank of Kenya.
The repurchase agreement is secured by investment in government securities. The weighted
average interest rate on repurchase agreement was nil (2023: 15.62%).
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28 Other liabilities

House sales deposits

Withholding tax payable

Sundry creditors

Trade creditors

Insurance premium payable

Contractors payables

Asset retirement obligation — right of use
asset

Other payables

29 Investment property

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
398,569 392,775 - -
80,083 95,073 - -
360,656 303,647 - -
1,977,463 1,461,253 - -
307,798 87,330 - -
169,160 332,192 - -
21,7117 22,317 - -
353,980 582,568 590,314 347,439
3,669,426 3,277,155 590,314 347,439

Investment properties are carried at fair value, representing open market value determined annually by
external valuers. Changes in fair values are presented in the income statement in the year to which they

relate.
Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
Fair value
At start and end of year 1,885,000 1,849,000
Fair value gain 20,000 36,000
1,905,000 1,885,000
Income from investment property
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
Rental income from operating leases 33,101 39,836
Direct operating expenses from property that generated rental income (7,785) (8,864)
25,316 30,972
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29 Investment property (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
31 December 2024 - 1,905,000 - 1,905,000
31 December 2023 - 1,885,000 - 1,885,000

The following are the main inputs:

- Average occupancy rate: 96% (2023: 97%)
- Weighted average rent of Shs 1,193 (2023: Shs 1,193) per square metre

30 Borrowings

Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
European Investment Bank (EIB) 629,938 1,214,764
Shelter Afrique 239,026 485,202
Arab Bank for Economic Development in Africa - 81,972
Britam 1,032,501 1,029,442
Kenya Mortgage Refinance Company 789,495 929,052
2,690,960 3,740,432
Current 2,047,419 2,953,956
Non-current portion 643,541 786,476

2,690,960 3,740,432

Movement during the year

At start of year 3,740,432 4,317,757
Net movement in repayment and accrued interest (1,049,472) (677,325)
At end of year 2,690,960 3,740,432
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30 Borrowings (continued)

During the year, the Bank did not default on any of the following loan repayment obligations from all the
existing lenders.

At 31 December 2024, HFC Limited, a subsidiary of HF Group Plc was in breach of the following loan

covenants
Lender Covenant Required limit HFC ratio at
end of year
Shelter Afrique Cost to income ratio Maximum of 87% 93.68%
: Non- Performing Loans ~ Minimum of 19.2% 27.23%
Britam
to Total Loans
% H ni 0, 0,
European Investment Bank (EIB) gﬂgt:ﬁgg;??;ifans i of 15% 26 78%
Open exposure ratio Maximum of 30% 34.05%

As at 31 December 2024 Britam, Shelter Afrique and EIB had not provided waivers on the above
breaches hence the borrowings have been classified as current within the liquidity risk note.

31 December 2024 Loan Current Non- Interest Issue Maturity
balance current rate date date
Lender Shs’ 000 Shs’000 Shs’ 000
European Investment _ " 24 July 1 October
Bank (EIB) 629,938 629,938 4.32% 2017 2026
48 31 Januar
Shelter Afrique Limited 239,026 239,026 - 11.50% December y
2026
2015
01 01 Februa
Britam 1,032,501 1,032,501 - 20% February 34
2028
2021
Kenya Mortgage 5 31 March 31 March
789,495 145,954 643,541 5.00% 2021 2028

Refinance Company

2,690,960 2,047,419 643,541
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30 Borrowings (continued)

31 December 2023 Loan Current Non-
balance current

Lender Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’ 000
European Investment 1214764 1214 764 _
Bank (EIB) B B
Shelter Afrique Limited 485,202 485,202 -
Britam 1,029,442 1,029,442 -
Rerya Morigags 929,052 142,576 786,476
Refinance Company
Arab Bank for
Economic
Development in Africa &1 952 81,8042 )
(BADEA)

3,740,432 2,953,956 786,476

Interest
rate

4.321%

11.8%

19.41%

5.00%

10.9%

Issue date

24 July
2017

28
December
2015

01 February
2021

31 March
2021

5 March
2018

Maturity
date

1 October
2026

31 January
2026

01
February
2028

31 March
2028

23
December
2028

The interest rate for EIB, KMRC is fixed. Shelter Afrique borrowing interest rate is based on 6 months
SOFR +5.4% margin and Britam loan interest rate is based of CBR+4%.
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31 Capital and reserves

(a) Share capital

Authorised — 1,999,995,255 (2023:
500,000,000) ordinary shares of Shs
5 each

Issued and fully paid —
1,885,488,016(2023: 384,614,168)
ordinary shares of Shs 5 each

Movement in ordinary shares

At start of year (384,614,168)

Additional shares (rights Issue)

Employee Share Options Programme
shares issue

In monetary terms:

At start of year

Additional capital (rights issue)

Additional capital (Employee Share
Options Programme shares)

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
9,999,976 2,500,000 9,999,976 2,500,000
7,541,940 1,923,071 7,541,940 1,923,071
384,614 384,614 384,614 384,614
1,499,995 - 1,499,995 -
876 - 876 -
1,885,485 384,614 1,885,485 384,614
1,923,071 1,923,071 1,923,071 1,923,071
7,499,975 - 7,499,975 -
4,394 - 4,394 -
9,427,440 1,923,071 9,427,440 1,923,071

In December 2024 HF Group Plc mobilized capital through a rights issue. The rights issue priced
at Shs 4.00 per share, was structured to offer shareholders two (2) new ordinary shares for every
one (1) existing ordinary share held, with the shareholders having the option to apply for additional
shares. In addition, it had a green shoe option of up to 30% (equivalent to 384,614,168 shares) to
accommodate any potential oversubscription. The grand total number of new shares applied for
under the rights issue (Entitlement shares + Additional shares) was 1,595,995,966 with a total gross

value of Shs 5,999,999,999.

HF Group issued additional 1,499,999 shares (2023: 384,614,168).
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31

(a)

Capital and reserves (continued)

Share capital (continued)

HF Group established an Employee Share Options Programme (ESOP) Scheme in 2007, whose

main aim was to ringfence talent during the vesting period.

In September 2022,1,437,500 shares at a price of Shs 3.72 with a vesting period of 2 years were
granted to staff based on 2021 individual performance ratings to eligible staff. These shares were

to come from the authorised but not paid up shares of the group.

The vesting date was in September 2024 and the options exercised were 878,593 shares with a
par value of Shs 4,392,965 out of which Shs 3,268,365 was paid for by staff while the difference of
Shs 1,124,600 was expensed to the statement of profit or loss. The balances were deemed not

material to be disclosed in the prior year financial statements.

(b) Share premium

(c)

This reserve arises when the shares of the Company are issued at a price higher than the nominal
(Par) value. In 2024 the Group raised additional capital, issuing 1,499,999 shares at Shs 4 per
share. There was a bonus/discount given of Shs 1 for the shares issued which were fully paid

through Group share premium account.

2024 2023

Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000

At start of year 4,343,512 4,343,512
Bonus shares fully paid through share premium (1,499,995) -
Transactions cost recorded directly in equity (194,179) &
At end of year 2,649,338 4,343,512

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserves include the net change in the fair value of land and buildings are to be

held until the property is derecognised.

2024 2023

Shs’000 Shs’000

At start of year 1,312,129 1,295,129
Change in fair value during the period: -

Revaluation gain on land - 20,000

Deferred income tax - (3,000)

At end of year 1,312,129 1,312,129

113



HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)

31

Capital and reserves (continued)

(d) Statutory credit risk reserve

(e)

32

The loan loss reserve represents excess of the loans and advances impairment provision determined
in accordance with the Central Bank of Kenya's prudential guidelines compared with the requirements

of IFRS 9 - Financial instruments. These reserves are not available for distribution.

The movement during the year is as below:

2024 2023

Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000

At start of year 4,854,473 3,696,575
Transfer (45,953) 1,157,898
At end of year 4,808,520 4,854,473

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve includes the cumulative net change in the fair value of debt investments and
treasury bonds held at FVOCI until the investment is derecognised when the net changes are recycled

to profit or loss.

2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
At start of year (305,378) (40,373)
Change in fair value during the year:
Fair value losses on treasury bonds classified as FVOCI 687,796 (378,578)
Less: Deferred income tax (206,339) 113,573
At end of year 176,079 (305,378)
Government of Kenya income notes and loans
Group
2024 2023
Shs'000 Shs'000
Government of Kenya — Income Notes 52,860 52,860

* The Government of Kenya — Income notes were transferred from HF Group Plc with effect
from 3 August 2015. They carry no redemption date and are charged interest at a fixed rate of

8.25% per annum.
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33 Cash flows from operating activities

Note

Profit before income tax

Adjustments for:
Group’s share of profit from investments in joint ventures 21

Interest expense on lease liabilities 35
Depreciation of property and equipment 19
Amortisation of right of use asset 35
Amortisation of intangible assets 20
Loss on sale of repurchased property

Gain on sale of property and equipment 19
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivatives

Fair value gain on investment property 29

Gain on modification on lease liabilities

Operating profit before changes in operating assets
and liabilities

Increase in customer and banks deposits

Increase in balances with Central Bank of Kenya — Cash 16
Reserve Ratio (CRR)

Increase in loans and advances to customers

Increase in investment in government securities
Decrease/(increase) in inventory

Increase in other assets

Increase in other liabilities

(Decrease)/increase in deposit with Central Bank

Net cash flows from operating activities before tax

Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating activities

115

Group
2024 2023
Shs'000 Shs'000
459,993 334,484
(23,243) (31,946)
23,611 30,423
84,211 77,652
76,864 78,434
77,443 213,106
- 720
- (3,556)
15,797 (1,570)
(20,000) (36,000)
(15,491) (78,777)
679,185 582,970
4,415,446 3,739,629
53,455 88,253
(73,222) (2,796,171)
(7,037,920) (1,151,270)
43,481 (111,215)
(192,003) (178,050)
392,271 190,588
(1,500,000) 1,000,233
(3,219,307) 1,364,967
(37,451) (31,675)
(3,256,758) 1,333,292
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33 Cash flows from operating activities (continued)

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the

following at 31 December:

Cash in hand and bank (Note 16 (a))
Balances due from banking institutions (Note 16 (a)
Placement

(Loss)/profit before income tax
Depreciation on property and equipment
Decrease in other assets
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities

Net cash flows from operating activities before tax

Income tax paid

Net cash flows from operating activities
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Group
2024 2023
Shs'000 Shs'000
678,473 367,508
478,454 302,222
1,066,290 607,391

2,223,217 1,277,121

Company
2024 2023
Shs'000 Shs'000
(73,793) 3,879
242 273
2,481 33,658
242,875 (46,620)
171,805 (8,810
(2,171) (5,470)
169,634 (14,280)




HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)
34 Off-balance sheet contingencies and commitments
(a) Guarantees, letters of credit and commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had issued guarantees and letters of credit in the ordinary
course of business to third parties as shown below.

2024 2023

Shs’000 Shs’000

Guarantees 607,593 2,428,566
Letters of credit 94,935 39,474
702,528 2,468,040

Commitments contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements
are as follows:

2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
Loans approved but not yet disbursed 1,643,193 1,643,241

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Bank’s contingent liabilities. Each
undrawn loan commitment is included in the time band containing the earliest date it can be drawn
down.

0-3 3-6 6-12 1-5
months months months Years Total
Shs’ 000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000

31 December 2024
Guarantees 270,506 119,736 171,880 45,471 607,593

Letters of credit 34,029 60,906 - 94,935

304,535 180,642 171,880 45,471 702,528

31 December 2023
Guarantees 259,550 1,256,785 843,957 68,273 2,428,565
Letters of credit - 37,668 1,806 39,474

259,650 1,294,453 845,763 68,273 2,468,039
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34 Off-balance sheet contingencies and commitments (continued)

(b) Other contingent liabilities

In the ordinary course of business, the Group is a defendant in various litigations and claims.
Although there can be no assurances, the Directors believe, based on the information currently
available and legal advice, that the claims can successfully be defended and therefore no provision

has been made in the financial statements.
35 Leases

The Group as a lessee

The Group leases a number of branch and office premises. The leases typically run for a period
between 3 and 10 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. For some leases,
payments are renegotiated every five years to reflect market rentals. Some leases provide for
additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price indices.

The Group also leases IT equipment with contract terms of one to three years. These leases are
short-term and/or leases of low-value items. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for these leases.

(a) Right-of-use assets

2024 2023

Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000

At start of year 774,009 1,004,756
Adjustments due to changes in cashflows changes 15,491 (67,775)
Additions 15,198 25,934
Transfer of land to inventory - (8,906)
Transfer of land to property plant & equipment - (180,000)
804,698 774,009

Accumulated depreciation (656,769) (579,905)
147,929 194,104

At end of year
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35 Leases (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2024
Cost

At start of year and end of year
Remeasurement during the year
Adjustments due to changes in
cashflows

Accumulated depreciation
At start of year
Charge for the year

At end of year

Year ended 31 December 2023

Cost

At start of year and end of year

Remeasurement during the year

Adjustments due to changes in

cashflows

Transfer of land to inventory

Transfer of land to property plant and
equipment

Accumulated depreciation

At start of year

Charge for the year

Transfers

Reversal of accumulated depreciation

At end of year

Leasehold Office IT Total
land premises equipment

Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000

- 615,121 158,888 774,009

- 15,198 - 15,198

- 15,491 - 15,491

645,810 158,888 804,698

248 (461,682) (118,471) (579,905)

- (51,439) (25,425) (76,864)

248 132,689 14,992 147,929

Leasehold Office IT Total
land premises equipment

Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000 Shs ‘000

188,904 595,949 219,903 1,004,756

- 25,934 - 25,934

- (6,760) (61,015) (67,775)

(8,904) - - (8,904)

(180,000) - - (180,000)

- 615,123 158,888 774,009

(10,424) (408,673) (93,046) (5612,143)

- (53,009) (25,425) (78,434)

6,310 - - 6,310

4,362 - - 4,362

248 153,441 40,417 194,104
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35

(a)

Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases were payable as follows:

(b)

(c)

(d)

Maturity analysis — Contractual undiscounted cash flows
Less than one year

Between one and five years
More than five years

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Leases under IFRS 16
Interest on lease liabilities
Depreciation of Right-of-use assets

Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows

Total cash outflow for leases

Lease liabilities

Current
Non-current
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2024 2023
Shs '000 Shs ’000
76,569 107,988
128,989 174,680
17,056 3,002
222,614 285,670
23,611 30,423
76,864 78,434
106,545 123,541
2024 2023
Shs ’000 Shs ’000
68,057 83,998
124,762 177,515
192,819 261,513
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35 Leases (continued)

(d) Lease liabilities

36

Movement in lease liabilities

At start of year 261,513 434,488
Additions 15,198 25,934
Remeasurement (principal) - -
Remeasurement (cashflows) (958) (106,111)
Interest expense charged 23,611 30,422
Interest elements of lease payments (23,611) (30,422)
Principal elements of lease payments (82,934) (92,798)
At end of year 192,819 261,513

Some leases of office premises contain extension options exercisable by the Group up to one year
before the end of the non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the Group seeks to include
extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options held are
exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors. The Group assesses at lease commencement
date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The Group reassesses
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant event or significant
changes in circumstances within its control.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases out part of its property. The Group has classified these leases as operating leases,
because they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of
the assets.

Rental income earned during the period was Shs.86,893,000 (2023: Shs 85,163,000).
Related parties and related party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operation decisions, or one other
party controls both. HF Group Plc is listed on the Nairobi Securities Exchange. The largest
shareholder of HF Group Plc is Britam Holdings Plc, which has 48% shareholding. There are other
companies which are related to HFC Limited through common shareholdings or common
directorships.

Key management personnel are those individuals who have the authority and responsibility for
planning and exercising power to directly or indirectly control the activities of the Group (including
subsidiaries) and its employees. The Group considers the Board of Directors, executive and non-
executive directors, to be key management personnel for the purposes of I1AS 24 - related party
disclosures.

The Group enters into transactions, arrangements and agreements involving directors, senior
management and their related concerns in the ordinary course of business.
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36 Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

(a) Loans to key management personnel

At start of year
Loans disbursed
Repayments

At end of year

Current
Non - current

Total

(b) Loans to employees
At start of year

Loans advanced during the year
Loans repayments received

At end of year

Comprising:
Mortgages and advances

Personal loans
Staff car loans

Current
Non - current

Total

Group
2024 2023
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
166,427 173,591
115,415 57.108
(83,020) (64,272
198,822 166,427
35,278 27.033
163,544 139,394
198,822 166,427
1,252,502 1,049,491
1,094,157 835,386
(951,601) (632,375)
1,395,058 1,252,502
789,024 726,911
584,861 499,440
21,173 26,151
1,395,058 1,252,502
198,601 325,651
1,196,457 926,851
1,395,058 1,252,502

Interest income arising from these employees’ facilities amounted to Shs 91,181,000 (2023:

Shs 76,494,119).
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36

Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

(c) Remuneration to directors and key management personnel

(c)

(d)

Group

2024 2023
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000

Remuneration to executive directors:
Company* 74,104 69,451
Group** 50,873 52,029
Remuneration to key management 178,740 145,264
303,717 266,744

* Remuneration to the executive directors of the parent Company, HF Group Plc
** Remuneration to the executive directors of the subsidiary companies in the Group.

Remuneration to directors and key management personnel

Group
2024 2023
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Remuneration to key management:
Salaries and short-term benefits 178,740 145,264
Pension 28,552 21,790
207,292 167,054

Compensation to senior management including executive directors for the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to Shs 228,113,000 (2023: Shs145,264,000).

Transactions with Britam Insurance Company (Kenya) Limited

Group
2024 2023
Shs’ 000 Shs’ 000
Bank balances held with HFC Limited 58,872 59,567

123



HF Group Plc
Financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes (continued)

36

(e) Transactions with HF Development and Investment Limited

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

1)

Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

Bank balances held with HFC Limited
Loans and other receivables

Transactions with HF Bancassurance Intermediary

Bank balances held with HFC Limited
Other receivables

Transactions with Precious Heights Limited

Bank balances held with HFC Limited
Other receivables

Transactions with Kahawa Downs Limited

Bank balances held with HFC Limited
Other receivables

Transactions with Clay City Limited

Bank balances held with HFC Limited

Transactions with Richland Development Limited

Bank balances held with HFC Limited

Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
80,813 9,161
1,423,844 1,210,396
1,504,657 1,219,557
103,730 12,696
28,384 40,955
132,114 53,651
1,244 1,863
- 2,746
1,244 4,609
17,932 10,265
- 63,631
17,932 73,896
1,758 1,820
11,693 1,918
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36 Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

(k) Transactions with Housing Finance Development and Investment Property Fund

Bank balances held with HFC Limited

() Transactions with Pioneer International College

Loans and advances held with HFC Limited

(k) Transactions with Agricultural and Industrial Holdings Ltd

Loans and advances held with HFC Limited

() Transactions with Micro Land Investments

Loans and advances held with HFC Limited

37 Derivative liabilities

Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
34 109
- 11,624
Group
2024 2023
Shs’000 Shs’000
25,777 58,199
9,205 9,452

The Group’s derivative financial instruments are entered into for trading purposes. The fair value of all
derivatives is recognised in the statement of financial position and is only netted to the extent that there
is both a legal right of set-off and an intention to settle on a net basis, or the intention to realise the
derivative asset and settle the derivative liability simultaneously. At 31 December 2024 all derivatives
are to be settled on a gross basis.

The table below shows the fair values of currency forwards recorded as assets or liabilities together with
their notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a currency forward or
swap'’s underlying off-balance sheet asset / liability and is the basis upon which changes in the fair
values of currency forwards and swaps are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of
transactions outstanding at the year-end.

Notional
amount
asset
Shs’000

Forwards 989,271

2024
Notional Fair
amount value

liability asset
Shs’000 Shs’000

989,271 952,237

Fair
value
liability
Shs’000

937,140

Notional
amount
asset
Shs’000

289,511

2023
Notional Fair
amount value
liability asset
Shs’000 Shs’000
289,511 289,339

Fair
value
Liability
Shs’000

290,909
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37 Derivative liabilities (continued)

The table below summarises the currency forwards subject to offsetting, whose net amounts are
presented in other assets.

2024 2023
Fair value Fair value Fair value Fair value Fair value Fair value
asset Liability asset asset Liability liability
Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000 Shs’000
Forwards 952,937 937,140 15,797 289,339 290,909 (1,570)
..................... 000......ccevevnnnn,
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